
COMMISSION 
MEETING 

May 21, 2025 

10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 

Prince George’s  
Parks and Recreation Administration 

Auditorium 
6600 Kenilworth Avenue 

Riverdale, Maryland 20737 

and via teleconference



This page intentionally left blank.  



ITEM 1 
MARYLAND-NATIONAL CAPITAL PARK AND PLANNING COMMISSION 

Wednesday, May 21, 2025  
10:00 am to 12:00 noon 

Prince George’s Parks and Recreation Administration Auditorium and via Teleconference 

     ACTION 
   Motion        Second 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda (10:00 a.m.) (*) 
a) Approval of May 21, 2025 Commission Meeting Agenda   Page 1 
b) Resolution #25-08 Bethesda Minor Master Plan Amendment (Klevan) Page 3 
c) Resolution #25-10 Paint Branch Stream Restoration Easements (Sun) Page 45  

2. Approval of Commission Minutes (10:05 a.m.)
a) Open Session – April 16, 2025 (*) Page 57 

3. General Announcements (10:05 a.m.)
a) Memorial Day Holiday, Monday May 26
b) Asian Pacific American Heritage Month
c) Jewish-American Heritage Month
d) Military Appreciation Month
e) Upcoming Juneteenth Holiday, Thursday June 19

4. Committee and Board Reports (10:10 a.m.)
a) Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes from

April 1, 2025 (for Information Only) Page 63 

5. Action and Presentation Items (10:10 a.m.)
a) CAS Salary Savings Transfers Request (Charles) (*) (LD) 
b) Resolution #25-09 Approval of the M-NCPPC Employees’ Retirement System FY26

Operating Budget (Harris) (*) Page 67 
c) Follow up on GLP-1 Drug Policy (Allen) Page 79 
d) Resolution #25-11 Appointment of Brenda Edmond to the Merit System Board (King) (*) (LD) 

6. Officers’ Reports (11:00 a.m.)

Executive Director’s Report
No report scheduled

Secretary-Treasurer’s Report
No report scheduled

General Counsel
a) Litigation Report Page 81 
b) Annual Legislative Update (H) 

Pursuant to the Maryland General Provisions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Section 3-305(b)(9) 
a closed session is proposed to conduct collective bargaining negotiations or consider matters that relate  
to the negotiations. 

7. Closed Session (11:30 a.m.)

 (*) Vote       (LD) Late Delivery        (H) Handout (D) Discussion Only

1



This page intentionally left blank.  

2



 BETHESDA DOWNTOWN PLAN MINOR MASTER PLAN AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION OF ADOPTION 

Description 

The Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment provides technical updates to the 2017 
Bethesda Downtown Plan to improve the implementation of recommendations related to new parks, 
transportation infrastructure, a new recreation center, affordable housing, and more.   

Montgomeryplanning.org 

Item 1b

3



Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Resolution of Adoption   1 

Larissa Klevan, Master Plan Supervisor, Downcounty Planning 
larissa.klevan@montgomeryplanning.org, 301-495-1326 

Elza Hisel-McCoy, Chief, Downcounty Planning 
elza.hisel-mccoy@montgomeryplanning.org, 301-495-2115 

4

mailto:larissa.klevan@montgomeryplanning.org
mailto:elza.hisel-mccoy@montgomeryplanning.org


Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Resolution of Adoption   2 

 

 

 

SUMMARY 

Attached for your review and approval is M-NCPPC Resolution No. 25-08 to adopt the Bethesda 
Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment. The Montgomery County Council, sitting as the District 
Council, approved the Bethesda Downtown Minor Master Plan Amendment by Resolution 20-777 on 
April 8, 2015. The Montgomery County Planning Board approved the adoption of the Bethesda 
Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment by Resolution No. 25-034 on May 1, 2025. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Montgomery County Planning Board Resolution No. 25-034/ M-NCPPC Resolution No. 
25-08

Attachment B – Montgomery County Council Resolution No.  20-770 

Attachment C- Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment 

Attachment D- Certification of Approval and Compliance 

MASTER PLAN INFORMATION 
Topic 
Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan 
Amendment  

Date 

May 21, 2025 

Lead Planner 

Elza Hisel-McCoy 

Planning Division 

Downcounty Planning 

Staff Contact 

Elza.Hisel-McCoy@montgomeryplanning.org 

301.495.2115 

M-NCPPC Information

MNCPPC Item No. 1b 

05.21.25 

5

mailto:Elza.Hisel-McCoy@montgomeryplanning.org


This page intentionally left blank.   

6



MCPB NO. 25-034 

M-NCPPC NO. 25-08

RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission, by virtue of the 
Land Use Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, is authorized and empowered, from time to time, to 
make and adopt, amend, extend, and add to Thrive Montgomery 2050; and 

WHEREAS, the Montgomery County Planning Board of The Maryland-National Capital Park 
and Planning Commission, pursuant to procedures set forth in the Montgomery County Code, Chapter 
33A, held a duly advertised public hearing on December 2, 2024 on the Public Hearing Draft of the 
Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment, being also an amendment to portions of the 
following master plan: Bethesda Downtown Plan (2017); and 

WHEREAS, the Montgomery County Planning Board, after said public hearing and due 
deliberation and consideration, on December 19, 2024, approved the Planning Board Draft of the 
Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment, recommended that it be approved by the 
Montgomery County Council sitting as the District Council for that portion of the Maryland-Washington 
Regional District lying situate within Montgomery County (the “Montgomery County District Council”), 
and forwarded it to the Montgomery County Executive for recommendations and analysis; and 

WHEREAS, the Montgomery County Executive reviewed and made recommendations on the 
Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment and forwarded 
those recommendations and analysis to the Montgomery County District Council on March 6, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the Montgomery County District Council held a public hearing on February 26, 
2025, wherein testimony was received concerning the Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown 
Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, the District Council, on April 8, 2025, approved the Planning Board Draft of the 
Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment subject to the modifications and revisions set 
forth in District Council Resolution No. 20-770. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Montgomery County Planning Board and The 
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission do hereby adopt the said Bethesda Downtown 
Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment, together with Thrive Montgomery 2050, as amended, and as an 
amendment to portions of the Bethesda Downtown Plan (2017), and as approved by the District Council 
in the attached Resolution No. 20-770; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that copies of said Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan 
Amendment must be certified by The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission and filed 
with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for both Montgomery and Prince George’s Counties, as required by 
law. 

Approved as to 
Legal Sufficiency:   __/s/ Matthew Mills ________ 

M-NCPPC Legal Department

7



********** 

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the Montgomery 
County Planning Board of The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission on motion of  
Commissioner Hedrick, seconded by Commissioner Linden, with a vote of 5-0;  Chair Harris, Vice Chair 
Pedoeem, and Commissioners Bartley, Hedrick, and Linden, voting in favor of the motion,  at its regular 
meeting held on Thursday, May 1, 2025, in Wheaton, Maryland and via video conference. 

______________________________ 

Artie L. Harris, Chair 
Montgomery County Planning Board 

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. XXX, adopted by The 
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission on motion of Commissioner ___________, 
seconded by Commissioner ________, with Commissioners ___________, ___________,____________, 
____________, _____________, ____________, _____________, ___________, ____________, 
___________, voting in favor of the motion, at its meeting held on Wednesday, May 21, in Riverdale, 
Maryland. 

______________________________ 

Executive Director 

8



Resolution No.: 20-770 
Introduced: April 8, 2025 
Adopted: April 8, 2025 

1 

COUNTY COUNCIL FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND 
SITTING AS THE DISTRICT COUNCIL FOR THAT PORTION 
OF THE MARYLAND-WASHINGTON REGIONAL DISTRICT 

WITHIN MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND 

Lead Sponsor:  County Council 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Approval of Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment  

1. On December 20, 2024 the Montgomery County Planning Board transmitted to the County 
Executive and the County Council it’s draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master 
Plan Amendment (MMPA).

2. The Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment is 
an update to the 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan which covers an area of roughly 450 acres. 
The MMPA amends the 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan and Thrive Montgomery 2050, as 
amended.

3. On February 26, 2025, the County Council held a public hearing on the Planning Board Draft 
of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment, which was referred to the 
Council’s Planning, Housing, and Parks Committee for review and recommendations.

4. On March 10 and March 24, 2025, the Planning, Housing, and Parks Committee held a 
worksession to review the Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master 
Plan Amendment.

5. On April 1, 2025, the County Council reviewed the Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda 
Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment and the recommendations of the Planning, 
Housing, and Parks Committee.

Action 

The County Council for Montgomery County, Maryland, sitting as the District Council for 
that portion of the Maryland-Washington Regional District lying situate in Montgomery County, 
Maryland, states as follows: 

 The Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment, 
dated Winter 2024, is hereby approved with revisions. District Council revisions to the Planning 
Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment are identified below. 
Deletions to the text of the Plan are indicated by [brackets], additions by underscoring. 
Montgomery County Planning Department staff may make additional, non-substantive revisions 

9



Page 2 Resolution No.: 20-770   

and/or corrections to the Master Plan Amendment before its adoption by The Maryland-
National Capital Park & Planning Commission. 

 All page references in this section are consistent with the page numbering in the print version 
of the Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment. 

Page 14 Modify the section Measuring the Cumulative Experience of Implementing the Plan 
Vision as follows:  

[Measuring the Cumulative Experience of Implementing the Plan Vision] 5-Year 
Comprehensive Review of Plan Implementation 

Montgomery Planning and Parks, County and County Council staff undertake 
significant efforts to analyze master plan implementation progress and impacts 
through a variety of lenses and timeframes, from development application to the 
Capital Budget and the CIP to the GIP. With the goal of better [quantifying the 
cumulative experience of change resulting from implementation of the plan vision] 
understanding the cumulative impacts of development and progress toward the Plan 
vision, the MMPA recommends staff [investigate approaches used in other 
jurisdictions and present them to the Planning Board as part of an upcoming Annual 
Monitoring Report] undertake a 5-year comprehensive review of the plan.  

Page 17 Modify the fifth recommendation under 4.2 Transportation and Adequate Public 
Facilities as follows:  

• Support MCDOT, WMATA, MDOT, and other regional transit providers study
and implementation of enhanced transit service connecting downtown Bethesda
to nearby residential neighborhoods and regional activity centers, including
expanded transit support facilities needed to accommodate existing and
enhanced service, such as bus layover capacity.

Page 20 Modify the section Expanding the PIP Reduction as follows: 

The BOZ currently stipulates that if a property owner dedicates to [the] 
Montgomery Parks land designated in the master plan as a recommended open 
space, the Planning Board may reduce the amount of square footage for which a 
PIP must be made.  As a primary purpose of PIP funds is the acquisition of parkland 
recommended in the master plan, this reduction reflects the benefit of having the 
land dedicated directly to [the] Montgomery Parks.   

To allow greater flexibility for private development to provide master-planned open 
space, the MMPA recommends the consideration of extending [this] a PIP 
reduction to land designated in the master plan as a recommended open space that 

10



Page 3 Resolution No.: 20-770   

a property owner makes publicly accessible as a Privately Owned Public Space 
(POPS) under conditions approved by Montgomery Parks and the Planning Board, 
including maintaining the POPS to Montgomery Parks standards and ensuring 
public access.  Montgomery Parks and Planning staff should further investigate the 
potential implications, both positive and negative, of extending the PIP reduction 
to include POPS and present a recommendation to the Planning Board for 
consideration alongside other actions required to update the BOZ as recommended 
elsewhere in this MMPA. In recognition of the fact that POPS do not provide the 
same level of long-term control of open space as parkland dedications and to 
incentivize parkland dedications over POPS, the recommendations for the BOZ 
updates should ensure that PIP reductions for POPS are not equal to PIP reductions 
for parkland dedication. 

Page 22 Modify the second paragraph under Expand the Height Incentive Area east of 
Arlington Road as follows:  

Excluded from the Height Incentive Area (HIA) are the blocks east of Arlington 
Road, between Moorland Lane to below Montgomery Avenue. These blocks 
include a mix of multi-family apartment buildings ranging in height from four to 
15 stories, townhouses ranging from three to four stories, and single-family 
structures, predominantly used as businesses. The single-family structure sites are 
zoned CR with a maximum height of 60 and 70 feet. [To encourage these 
underdeveloped sites to redevelop and provide more much-needed affordable 
housing, the MMPA recommends expanding the Height Incentive Area to 
Arlington Road in this area but limiting any additional height on these blocks to a 
maximum of 24 feet or not more than two stories. These blocks front onto the 
library and Bethesda Elementary School site and will have reduced impact on the 
single-family homes behind those sites.] The MMPA recommends further study of 
the expansion of the HIA along Arlington Road, which could be addressed in a 
future ZTA to the BOZ. 

General 

All illustrations and tables included in the MMPA will be revised to reflect the District 
Council changes to the Planning Board Draft of the Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan 
Amendment, dated Winter 2024. The text and graphics will be revised as necessary to achieve and 
improve clarity and consistency, to update factual information, and to convey the actions of the 
District Council. Graphics and tables will be revised and re-numbered, where necessary, to be 
consistent with the text and titles. 

This is a correct copy of Council action. 

_________________________________ 
Sara R. Tenenbaum 
Clerk of the Council  11



This page intentionally left blank.  

12



PLANNING BOARD DRAFT  DECEMBER 2024

13



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Abstract 

The Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment (MMPA) recommends technical updates 

to the 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan to improve implementation of recommendations related to new

parks, transportation infrastructure, a new recreation center, afordable housing, and more within a 

Plan Area of roughly 450 acres.  

The MMPA amends the 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan and Thrive Montgomery 2050, as amended.

Source of Copies  

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission, 2425 Reedie Drive, Wheaton, MD 20902.  

Online at https://montgomeryplanning.org/planning/communities/downcounty/bethesda-downtown-

plan/bethesda-downtown-plan-minor-master-plan-amendment-2024/. 

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission 

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission (M-NCPPC or Commission) is a bi-county 

agency created by the General Assembly of Maryland in 1927. The Commission’s geographic authority 

extends to the substantial majority of Montgomery and Prince George’s counties; the Maryland-

Washington Regional District (M-NCPPC planning jurisdiction) comprises 1,001 square miles, while the 

Metropolitan District (parks) comprises 919 square miles in the two counties.  

The Commission is charged with preparing, adopting, and amending or extending The General Plan 

(Thrive Montgomery 2050) for the physical development of the Maryland-Washington Regional District

in Montgomery and Prince George’s counties. The Commission operates in each county through 

Planning Boards appointed by those county governments. The Planning Boards are responsible for 

preparing all local plans, zoning ordinances, and subdivision regulations and the administration of the 

bi-county park system.  

The Commission encourages the involvement and participation of individuals with disabilities, and its 

facilities are accessible. For assistance with special needs (e.g., large print materials, listening devices, 

sign language interpretation), please contact the M-NCPPC Montgomery County Commissioners’ Ofice 

by telephone at 301-495-4605 or by email at mcp-chair@mncppc-mc.org. Maryland residents can also 

use the free Maryland Relay Service for assistance with calls to or from hearing- or speech-impaired 

persons; for information, visit www.mdrelay.org or call 1-800-552-7724. To place a call through 

Maryland Relay, dial 7-1-1. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 1 

14

www.mdrelay.org
mailto:mcp-chair@mncppc-mc.org
https://montgomeryplanning.org/planning/communities/downcounty/bethesda-downtown


 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

   

 

 

  

  

  

   

  

  

   

  

  

  

 

 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. PLAN AREA .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2. INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 The Minor Master Plan Amendment ..............................................................................................6 

1.2 Demographic shifs in downtown Bethesda since 2017 ...............................................................7 

1.3 Consideration of Racial Equity and Social Justice ........................................................................7 

3. COMMUNITY OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT ............................................................................................ 8 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................................ 10 

4.1. Development Level....................................................................................................................... 10 

4.2. Transportation and Adequate Public Facilities ...........................................................................14 

4.3. Implementation of 2017 Plan Park Recommendations ..............................................................17 

4.4. Park Impact Payment (PIP) .......................................................................................................... 18 

4.5. Recreation Center ......................................................................................................................... 20 

4.6. Afordable Housing ....................................................................................................................... 21 

4.7. Additional BOZ Updates............................................................................................................... 25 

4.8. Public Amenities and Benefits ..................................................................................................... 27 

4.9. Public Benefits in the CR Zone ..................................................................................................... 27 

4.10. Expanded Tree Canopy in Downtown Bethesda and Surrounding Communities .....................27 

Acknowledgements...................................................................................................................................... 28 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 2 

15



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

1. PLAN AREA

As approved by the Planning Board in May 2024, this Minor Master Plan Amendment (MMPA) covers the 

same Plan Area as the approved and adopted 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan, shown below.

Figure 1. MMPA Plan Area 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 3 

16



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. INTRODUCTION 

What began as a crossroads village in 1871 is today a thriving urban center, an essential economic 

engine for the county, and one of its most desirable communities. With excellent public transit access, 

numerous restaurants, shops, art galleries and entertainment choices, including performing arts, live 

music and movies, downtown Bethesda is an arts and entertainment destination and an economic hub 

in southern Montgomery County. It is home to more than 17,000 residents, over 33,000 jobs including 

the two largest employers in the county, Marriott and the National Institutes of Health, and a diversity 

of housing types. 

Bethesda’s most recent success was made possible by the innovative 2017 Bethesda Downtown Sector 
Plan. Following years of community collaboration, the Plan defined a 20-year vision for a truly 

sustainable urban community by balancing additional building height and density with creative 

implementation tools, such as a new Park Impact Payment (PIP) to help address the high cost of park 

development in the downtown. 

Downtown Bethesda is urbanizing and evolving, attracting new residents and jobs and contributing 

significantly to the economic health of the downtown and the county.  Since the adoption of the Plan, 

downtown Bethesda has added almost 2,500 new residents and over 4,200 jobs.  New development is 

expected to generate approximately $39 million in annual net new revenues for Montgomery County, 

based on an analysis by Partners for Economic Solutions, an urban economics consulting firm.  The 

annual cost of providing services to these new residents, including public education, is estimated at 

approximately $22 million.  This results in an annual net fiscal impact of $17 million. These benefits 

extend beyond downtown Bethesda to the county as a whole, with almost half of the taxes paid by 

downtown Bethesda developments and their residents and tenants going to the General Fund to 

support the cost of providing services to other parts of the county. 

In recent years, however, the pace of development has slowed significantly from the pre-pandemic 

peak.  Rising construction and financing costs continue to make development more challenging, with 

fewer development applications and fewer recently approved projects beginning construction: eight of 

the 11 Site Plans approved between 2017 and 2019 have been built or are under construction, 

compared with three of the 14 approved between 2019 and 2024.  This slow-down has also meant more 

fitful implementation of the 2017 Plan vision, with fewer PIPs and slower progress toward Plan-

recommended improvements and amenities. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 4 

17



 

 

 

 Figure 2. Approved Development Since 2017 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 5 

18



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
   

 

2.1 The Minor Master Plan Amendment 

All master plans demonstrate that the transportation network can support recommended new 

development.  In 2016, when the Plan was being developed, the methodology to make such a 

demonstration was based on anticipated vehicle delay at specific intersections inside and near the 

master Plan Area about 30 years in the future.  This analysis determined that, in order to meet the delay 

standard, no more than 32.4 million square feet of total development would be allowed.  Since then, 

the County Council has replaced this approach with an expanded set of metrics, discussed in greater 

detail below, that assess development’s potential impacts more broadly, focusing also on transit and 

bicycles and access to jobs and more. 

The 2017 Plan recommended that once total development approached the density limit, Montgomery 

Planning and the Planning Board should check in with the County Council to see if additional 

recommendations are needed to help implement public amenity and infrastructure recommendations 

like new parks and transportation-related improvements to support development.  Downtown 

Bethesda reached this threshold in fall 2023, and afer public engagement and comment, Planning staf 

and the Planning Board recommended that the County Council authorize the development of a Minor 

Master Plan Amendment (MMPA). The MMPA does not revisit the entire 2017 Plan. The existing 

recommendations addressing site-specific zoning, parks, transportation, housing, urban design, 

community facilities, the environment and other topics remain unchanged. 

Based on months of conversations and input from the resident and developer communities, the 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Implementation Advisory Committee (IAC), and County agencies, the MMPA 

recommends:  

 updating the overlay zone to remove a specific development level; 

 to continue to require transportation-related improvements and PIPs on a project-by-

project basis and monitor progress and the need for public investment in transportation 

and school infrastructure on an annual and biannual basis through the schools 

assessment, Capital Budget, and Capital Improvement Program; and 

 to incentivize investment in community support networks like afordable housing, parks, 

and a new recreation center. 

These recommendations help implement public amenity and infrastructure recommendations like new 

parks and transportation-related improvements by using the tools that have made the 2017 Plan a 

success.  Private development will continue to construct or pay for these improvements and more 

through PIPs, dedication of new recommended parks, transportation-related frontage improvements, 

and school and transportation impact taxes, on top of significant contributions to the county tax base.  

The public Capital Improvement Program (CIP) will continue to use these revenues to design and 

construct bus rapid transit, the Purple Line, the Capital Crescent Trail, new bike lanes, and more.  

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 6 

19



 

 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2 Demographic shifs in downtown Bethesda since 2017 

As downtown Bethesda continues to urbanize under the 2017 Plan, its population is growing, and 

growing more diverse, but housing costs remain high.  

 The downtown population is estimated to have increased by about 2,500 residents since 2017,

to over 17,000 people.

 Since 2017, downtown Bethesda added over 1,700 housing units, about 70% of which are in

larger multi-family apartment buildings.  About two-thirds of residents are renters, the inverse

for the county as a whole.

 The three largest age groups in 2022 were 18-34 (30%), 45-64 (23%), and 65 and over (17%),

growing by 13%, 20%, and 41% respectively since 2017.

 Downtown Bethesda has less racial diversity than the county as a whole, but since 2017 the

proportion of non-white residents has increased from 27% to 33%.  Asians are the largest group

among people of color, with Black, Asian, and Latino populations growing 31%, 54%, and 18%

respectively.

 Average income increased 27% to almost $185,000, as compared with the county average

$173,000.

 Average house value increased 23%.

 Average monthly rent increased 23%, with about 46% of renters spending more than 30% of

their income on rent, a 30% increase.

2.3 Consideration of Racial Equity and Social Justice

The County’s Racial Equity and Social Justice (RESJ) Act requires the Planning Board to consider racial 

equity and social justice impacts in master plans.  Approved before the RESJ Act, the 2017 Bethesda 
Downtown Plan set a 20-year vision of sustainability, accessibility, equity, and innovation, for afordable

housing near jobs, shopping, and recreation; safe tree-lined sidewalks, bikeways, and streets; and new 

parks and open spaces.  

The recommendations promoted racial equity and social justice by enhancing access to the many 

opportunities the growing downtown has to ofer. They enhanced access not only through ever-

expanding transit options like Metro, bus, and forthcoming Purple Line and bus rapid transit, in 

addition to an excellent pedestrian and bicycle network.  They also included new housing, including 

more afordable housing, new jobs, and new parks and amenities and innovative tools like the PIP to 

help them happen.  

The MMPA continues progress toward the vision of enhanced access to opportunity, with more housing 

and jobs near transit, parks, and amenities; more PIPs to build the recommended parks; incentives for a 

new recreation center; and extending existing incentives to build more afordable housing in downtown 

Bethesda, including to developments providing much-needed afordable units for families and people 

with need for deeper afordability.   

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 7 

20



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. COMMUNITY OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT

In addition to ongoing monthly meetings with the IAC on issues relating to implementation of the 2017 

Plan, since 2023 staf has been engaging with numerous Bethesda stakeholders on the subject of 

development levels as development began to approach the 2017 Plan limit. 

Beginning in May 2024, to help introduce the MMPA to the larger community and invite public 

participation, staf attended the Bethesda Farmers Market and hosted two in-person community 

meetings. 

Over the summer 2024, staf held a series of three informational workshops to share the tools available 

to implement master plan visions and hear from residents. These workshops highlighted that just as 

private and public stakeholders collaborated to create the Plan vision, private and public stakeholders 

share in the implementation of that vision.  The presentation discussed how master plans are tested for 

adequacy of potential land use and transportation impact, the indirect tools (e.g., taxes) and direct 

tools (e.g., development-provided infrastructure and amenities as well as public investment) that are 

available.  The presentations, including a recording of the virtual session, are on the Plan website. 

In September 2024, staf held three public meetings, both in-person and virtual, to share the staf 

Preliminary Recommendations for the MMPA.  The presentation was also posted on the MMPA website. 

Staf also has been meeting with community, business, and development groups, including the East 

Bethesda Citizens Association, the Bethesda Chamber of Commerce, NAIOP, and developers 

represented by Selzer Gurvich and Lerch Early and Brewer, and others. 

Image 1. Community Meeting at Chevy Chase Town Hall 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 8 

21



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Staf has also collaborated on these recommendations with partner county agencies, including the 

Department of Transportation (MCDOT), the Department for Housing and Community Afairs (DHCA), 

the Department of Permitting Services (MCDPS), and the Department of General Services (MCDGS). 

Throughout, staf has maintained an updated MMPA website to keep stakeholders up-to-date on the 

Plan eforts, materials, and events and keeps an eLetter mailing list with over 1,300 subscribers, who 

have signed up between the 2017 Plan process and today. 

What We Heard 

Top-Priority Improvements 

From the IAC and residents, the top-priority improvements were: 

• new parks

• new recreation center

• improvements to existing pedestrian network

• preserving naturally occurring afordable housing

• expanding tree canopy.

The MMPA addresses these priorities primarily through facilitating new development.  Development 

will directly fund new parks through PIPs, a new recreation center potentially through a Public-Private 

Partnership development, pedestrian improvements through frontage or Local Transportation Review 

upgrades, housing through the Moderately Priced Dwelling Unit (MPDU) program, and tree canopy 

through frontage streetscape improvements, through park construction and dedication, and through 

incentive programs like Montgomery Planning’s Reforest Montgomery.  Indirectly, through Impact Taxes 

and other tax revenue to the County General Fund and CIP, development helps fund public investment 

in parks, a recreation center, larger transportation improvement projects, implementation of the MPDU 

and other county housing programs and initiatives, and expanded tree canopy from park development. 

Resident Community Comments 

Through public meetings and the IAC, staf connected with residents living both inside and adjacent to 

the Plan Area.  From these interactions, staf heard that: 

• Bethesda is a growing urban center, but some are concerned development has been coming

too fast.

• The development cap should be tied to achieving public infrastructure and amenities.

• Religious and non-profit properties should be exempt from any development cap for modest

improvements.

• Bethesda needs more afordable housing at all income levels.

• Construction-related interruptions to the pedestrian network need to be better managed.

• Loading and delivery management remains an issue.

• Driving in Bethesda can be a challenge.

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 9 

22



 

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

The pace of development (and the resulting improvements and amenities) is dictated by the market.  

As mentioned earlier, the pace of development has slowed substantially in recent years and the MMPA 

recommendations are intended in part to increase developer flexibility to meet the fluctuating needs of 

the market when it rebounds.  By removing a specific density level from the BOZ and other 

recommendations described below, the MMPA helps to ensure that future development will continue to 

provide infrastructure improvements and amenities recommended in the Plan.  The MMPA incentivizes 

additional afordable housing, particularly for family-sized units and units with deeper levels of 

afordability.  The MMPA supports ongoing County eforts to address construction-related sidewalk 

closures, as well as studies to better manage curb and loading areas.  The MMPA acknowledges that 

driving a car in downtown Bethesda can be a challenge (though we did also hear that trafic speeds in 

downtown Bethesda are high enough to discourage cycling), but highlights the ongoing improvement 

of alternatives: walking, biking, and transit. 

Developer Community Comments 

Staf heard from property owners and developers of larger and smaller properties.  Their comments 

included: 

• New development brings many benefits to Bethesda.

• Real estate market not expected to pick up in near future and the current development cap

creates even more significant uncertainty.

• The requirement to pay the PIP at building permit is a financing challenge.

• Implementation of new Civic Greens delayed not by lack of park funding but by Purple Line

construction, multi-party contract negotiations, and property owners uninterested in selling.

The MMPA recommendations ofer greater flexibility and incentives for developers to build their part of 

the Plan vision, but also make sure that improvements and contributions are at the right levels. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

The MMPA recommendations below supersede portions of Chapter 4 of the 2017 Plan, on 

implementation.  Sections not updated below remain in efect.  Many of the recommendations below 

address modifications to the Bethesda Overlay Zone (BOZ) which was written to implement the 2017 

Plan. 

4.1. Development Level 

Since 2017, only seven years into the 20-year vision of the Plan, development in downtown Bethesda 

has brought to life many of the envisioned assets and improvements to the Plan Area, including new 

housing, including much-needed afordable housing, and new jobs, benefitting the community and the 

county.  Private development and public investment have created new bike lanes and improved 

sidewalks and begun the work of realizing the Capital Crescent Civic Green, the Farm Women’s Market 

Civic Green, the multi-block Eastern Greenway parks, the Montgomery Avenue parks, bus rapid transit 

on Wisconsin Avenue, and the Capital Crescent Trail tunnel under Wisconsin Avenue.  Without private 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 10 

23



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

development and the public investment it funds, the Plan vision of afordable housing near jobs and 

community amenities will not be realized.  The MMPA recommends updating the BOZ to remove a 

specific development level and, as discussed further below, continue to use Local Area Transportation 

Review (LATR), PIPs, MPDU requirements, and other tools – with some enhancements – to build the 

vision of the 2017 Plan. 

Master Plan Adequacy Metrics 

All master plans are required to include an assessment of potential future development against five 

transportation-related metrics: 

 Auto and Transit Accessibility: The average number of jobs that can be reached within a 45-

minute travel time by automobile or transit.

 Auto and Transit Travel Times: The average time per trip, considering all trip purposes.

 Vehicle Miles Traveled per Capita: Daily miles traveled per “service population,” where “service

population” is the sum of population and total employment for a particular specified area

(Transportation Analysis Zone or TAZ).

 Non-Auto Driver Model Share: The percentage of non-auto-driver trips (i.e., HOV, transit and

nonmotorized trips) for work trips.

 Low-Stress Bicycle Accessibility: The Countywide Connectivity metric documented in the 2018

Montgomery County Bicycle Master Plan.

These metrics are intended to provide a high-level understanding of transportation outcomes in 

potential future development scenarios.  They are not intended to evaluate specific locations, such as 

intersection delay and queuing.  Specific assessments of actual proposed development on identified 

sites in downtown Bethesda are undertaken by Planning, MCDOT, MCDPS, and State Highway 

Administration (SHA) staf with each proposed development, and the Planning Board must find, based 

on these specific assessments, that public facilities (including roads, schools, utilities, and more) are 

adequate to serve the development.  Projects that meet the threshold criteria are responsible for 

mitigating their own impacts to the transportation network, as described in the Growth and 

Infrastructure Policy (GIP), as a condition of the Planning Board’s approval, and each development pays 

Impact Taxes to fund transportation improvements.  As part of the annual Capital Budget and biennial 

CIP processes, the County Council and county agencies, including Parks, Schools, Transportation, 

among numerous others, determine where to invest public dollars for improvements and operations. 

Testing Scenarios 

Typically, Master Plan Adequacy is tested based on the maximum potential density mapped to all the 

properties in the Plan Area. This is a very conservative theoretical estimate which in reality is never 

achieved: over the 20-year life of a master plan, all properties in a Plan Area do not redevelop, let alone 

to the maximum level. 

In downtown Bethesda, the BOZ allows projects to purchase “BOZ density” above the mapped zoning, 

so determining the theoretical “maximum” density requires a diferent approach.  Staf developed 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 11 

24



 

 

 

 

  

three diferent theoretical scenarios – Scenario 1 being the lowest at 11 million square feet above the 

32.4 million square foot development level and Scenario 3 the highest at 21 million square feet above – 

based on the density approved by the Planning Board for Site Plans between 2017 and 2024, projected 

out to the “horizon years” of the 2017 Plan: when the Bethesda Downtown Plan could reasonably be

expected to be comprehensively updated. The scenarios distribute density between residential and 

commercial uses based on recent and projected trends.  The models for the metrics forecast results to 

2045. 

The analyses showed sometimes-significant improvements or no change in most metrics, with modest 

increases (around two minutes) for travel times from projected increases in job creation in the 

downtown.  These results, described in detail in Table 1, demonstrate general overall improvement and 

high performance from the tested theoretical scenarios, and show a resilient multi-modal 

transportation network improving from additional residents and jobs in the downtown.  The MMPA 

recommends removal of a specific development level in the BOZ in favor of project-specific mitigation 

of impacts and improvements.  The MMPA also recommends that future transportation-related 

functional plans continue to look at ways to improve these metrics. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 12 

25



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1. Master Plan Adequacy Metrics Results 

Metric Result 

Auto and Transit With the increased employment in the Plan Area in the 2045 master plan scenarios 

Accessibility compared to the 2045 baseline, both auto and transit accessibility (the average number of 

jobs accessible within 45 minutes) increase for all three master plan scenarios in the 

Bethesda CBD Policy Area. The increases in auto and transit accessibility to jobs are highest 

in Scenario 3 and lowest in Scenario 1. For the Bethesda-Chevy Chase (B-CC) “Parent” 

Policy Area, auto accessibility increases in each scenario, while transit accessibility 

decreases in Scenario 1 due to population shifs, but rebounds and increases further in the 

other scenarios. 

Auto and Transit As the forecast growth in jobs exceeds the growth in population, auto and transit travel 

Travel Times times increase in all three master plan scenarios in the Bethesda CBD Policy Area, largely 

because more people are traveling to work in the CBD. The increases in auto and transit 

travel times are greatest in Scenario 3 and lowest in Scenario 1.  For the B-CC Policy Area, 

travel times also increase but at about half the rate of the CBD Policy Area. 

Vehicle Miles Both total population and employment are projected to increase in the Plan Area, and 

Traveled per employment growing faster than population.  As a result, VMT per capita increases in the 

capita Bethesda CBD Policy Area in Scenario 1 and 2, mostly because more people are traveling 

from other places to work in Plan Area. However, in Scenario 3, the total population and 

employment in the Bethesda CBD Policy Area reaches a point where VMT per capita 

decreases, because more people choose not to drive due to longer travel time. But 

Countywide, VMT either stays constant (Scenario 1) or is reduced (Scenario 2 and 3) 

compared to the 2045 baseline.  For the B-CC Policy Area, the VMT increases under Scenario 

1, but by only about one-third of the CBD Plan Area increase, and decreases under 

Scenarios 2 and 3. 

Non-Auto-Driver NADMS remains high, at about 60%, exceeding the Bethesda CBD Policy Area goal of 55% 

Mode Share blended for Scenario 1, 2 and 3. The model shows a decrease in transit trips, which is 

partially ofset by an increase in walking and bicycling trips. Countywide, NADMS for work 

trips increases, largely due to increases in transit trips.  For the B-CC Policy Area, NADMS 

levels in each of the scenarios are around 53%, approaching 54% in Scenario 3. 

Low-Stress The growth in households and jobs in downtown Bethesda leads to a sizeable increase in 

Bicycle low-stress bicycling to, from and within the Plan Area. However, since an increased share of 

Accessibility that travel is to or from locations in downtown Bethesda that are not connected to the low-

stress bicycling network, the low-stress bicycling network decreases in the Policy Area by 

between 2.4% (Scenario 2 and 3) and 2.7% (Scenario 1).  Nevertheless the master-planned 

low-stress connectivity will remain very high, ranging from around 76% to 79%.  Expanding 

the low-stress bicycling network in or connecting to downtown Bethesda will increase 

access to the low-stress network.  For the B-CC Policy Area, access to low-stress connectivity 

approaches 83%. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 13 

26



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

  

Projected Schools Impact 

Staf evaluated the scenarios for potential student generation using Montgomery County Public 

Schools’ (MCPS) student-generation rates.  For all three scenarios, student generation projections at the 

elementary and middle schools levels were under MCPS's FY25 CIP projections for the Bethesda-Chevy 

Chase cluster seat surplus for the 2029-2030 school year. At the high school level, Scenarios 1 and 2 

were under the projected seat surplus, while Scenario 3 was over by 12 seats (10%).  Middle school and 

high school projections are subject to change once the Woodward/Northwood HS boundary study is 

approved. 

Carbon Analysis 

Beginning in 2022, county law requires the Planning Board to conduct climate assessments of proposed 

master plans. This approach allows planners to develop master plan recommendations to support 

implementation of the county’s Climate Action Plan and Thrive Montgomery 2050. Policies and 

strategies in both plans support eliminating greenhouse gas emissions and making land use and 

infrastructure more resilient and sustainable. 

Staf evaluated the three scenarios using the methodology approved by the Planning Board in 2022.  

The analysis showed that each potential additional development scenario would result in increased 

carbon emissions overall, but with reduced emissions per capita in all studied categories, including a 

10% reduction for energy emissions.  The complete Carbon Analysis is included in the Planning Board 

Draf Attachments document.   

Measuring the Cumulative Experience of Implementing the Plan Vision  

Montgomery Planning and Parks, County and County Council staf undertake significant eforts to 

analyze master plan implementation progress and impacts through a variety of lenses and 
timeframes, from development application to the Capital Budget and the CIP to the GIP.  With the 

goal of better quantifying the cumulative experience of change resulting from implementation of 

the plan vision, the MMPA recommends staf investigate approaches used in other jurisdictions and 

present them to the Planning Board as part of an upcoming Annual Monitoring Report. 

4.2. Transportation and Adequate Public Facilities 

The 2017 Plan proposed that transportation network improvements for downtown Bethesda be 

implemented through a Unified Mobility Program (BUMP).  Under the BUMP, MCDOT would develop a 

unit cost for the Plan-recommended transportation improvements, and developers of new projects 

would be required to contribute payments proportional to the project’s scale. However, the initial rate 

of development approvals in the Plan Area outpaced MCDOT’s ability to implement the approach, 

leading the County Executive to abandon the efort in 2022 in favor of seeking alternative funding 

approaches.  Consequently, transportation-related improvements since the Plan’s approval have been 

implemented as public CIP projects and by private developers as frontage improvements and LATR 

mitigation improvements. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 14 

27



 

 

  

 
 

  

 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

To date significant progress has been made on the Plan-recommended CIP projects: 

 Capital Crescent Trail (CCT): Phase 1 of the surface trail, from around Woodmont Avenue to 47th 

Street, was completed in 2022.  For Phase 2, along 47th Street, final design is in late 2024, with

construction expected to be completed in Fall 2025.  Design of the tunnel beneath Wisconsin

Avenue and Elm Street is in the final phase.

 Woodmont Avenue Cycletrack: Phase 1, from Miller Avenue to Montgomery Lane, was

completed in 2022.  Phase 2, Wisconsin Avenue to Miller Avenue and Montgomery Lane to

Norfolk Avenue, is at 70% design, with construction anticipated to begin in 2025.

 Montgomery Lane Cycletrack completed in 2022.

 MCDOT completed the study to reconfigure East-West Highway, Montgomery Lane, Old

Georgetown Road and Woodmont Avenue for two-way operation in 2023.

 Construction of the Purple Line station, including the south Metro Station entrance is ongoing,

with service expected to begin in late 2027.

 Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) on Wisconsin Avenue to the Purple Line Station is at the 35% design

phase. A Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Central Phase of the project (a 9-mile portion

between Montgomery College-Rockville Campus and the Montgomery College-Germantown

Campus) was issued in August 2024. The Bethesda portion will be implemented in a future

phase.

 The shell for the full-service bicycle storage facility located adjacent to the CCT tunnel routes

has been constructed, with final design for fit-out underway.

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 15 

28



 

 

 

 

Figure 3. Transportation and Park Improvements Since 2017 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 16 

29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

The MMPA recommends: 

• Continue LATR per the GIP to improve pedestrian, bike, and transit-related alternatives to

driving;

• Support implementation of Loading Management Districts as recommended in Montgomery

Planning’s 2023 Urban Loading and Delivery Management Study;

• Support recommendations of forthcoming Montgomery Planning/MCDOT joint Curbside

Management Study;

• Support MCDPS/MCDOT management of construction-related sidewalk closures; and

• Support MCDOT study and implementation of enhanced transit service connecting downtown

Bethesda to nearby residential neighborhoods and regional activity centers, including

expanded transit support facilities needed to accommodate enhanced service.

4.3. Implementation of 2017 Plan Park Recommendations

Following the approval of the Bethesda Downtown Plan in 2017, Montgomery Parks has been steadily

working to implement the Plan’s park recommendations, which include new civic gathering spaces and 

neighborhood parks, linkages to major trail systems, and improvements to existing parks. The MMPA 

recommends that Montgomery Parks refine implementation strategies as necessary to adapt to 

changing conditions such as the Purple Line construction status and schedule, development 

opportunities and challenges, and lessons learned since 2017. These strategies may include providing 

interim uses on newly acquired parkland when feasible and appropriate.   

One refinement the MMPA recommends regards the Veteran’s Park Civic Green.  The 2017 Plan and 

associated Design Guidelines identified several potential locations and configurations for the expansion 

of this key public space. As Montgomery Parks has pursued options to expand the existing Veteran’s 

Park and fulfil the goals of the 2017 Plan recommendation for this Civic Green, it has become clear that 

to successfully accomplish those goals the expansion needs to occur adjacent to the existing Veteran’s 

Park and not be separated from it by Woodmont Avenue. To better guide implementation of the 

Veteran’s Park recommendation and to provide clarity regarding potential redevelopment of sites near 

Veteran’s Park, the MMPA recommends that the expansion of the park take place on the west side of 

Woodmont Avenue rather than between Woodmont Avenue and Wisconsin Avenue. 

The 2017 Plan also recommended the exploration of new and alternative financing mechanisms 

beyond the Capital Budget (such as a special taxing district) to help fund new parks and park 

improvements. The MMPA reafirms this recommendation and supports Montgomery Parks continuing 

to explore and pursue all available funding sources such as state and federal grants. While important, 

alternative financing that involves new tax mechanisms is outside the authority of Montgomery Parks. 

The MMPA also recommends that Montgomery Parks continue to seek advice from the IAC. For 

additional information on the status of all park and open space recommendations in the 2017 Plan, 

please see the Bethesda Downtown Plan Monitoring webpage. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 17 

30



 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

4.4. Park Impact Payment (PIP) 

The PIP is an innovative planning tool created by the BOZ. Based on the amount of BOZ density 

approved for a new project, developers make a PIP to Montgomery Parks at the time of building permit.  

Montgomery Parks uses these funds to acquire land for new parks or construct new parks within the 

Plan Area.  The BOZ initially set the PIP rate at $10 per square foot of BOZ Density, with adjustments 

every odd-numbered year for inflation.  In 2023, the most recent update, the Planning Board approved 

the current rate at $12.49 per square foot.   

Recent Methodology Adjustments 

In January 2024, the County Council approved ZTA 23-07 modifying the methodology for inflationary 

adjustment from an average of the previous two years’ inflationary increases to their sum, or 

cumulative increase.  The change aligned with the change in methodology approved for calculating the 

biennial adjustments to the Transportation Impact Taxes. As described in the November 22, 2023, 

Planning Board memo to the County Council supporting the ZTA, the “average” method led to “a 

substantial under-calculation of the real rate of change in construction prices.”  Planning staf prepared 

the following analysis of the PIP rate inflationary adjustments using the two methodologies. 

Table 2: Comparison of PIP Rate Adjustment Methodologies 

Park Impact Payment 

Methodology 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Average Annual $10 n.a. $11.08 n.a. $11.41 n.a. $12.49 

Cumulative $10 n.a. $12.27 n.a. $13.01 n.a. $15.57 

The new methodology will be used for the 2025 adjustment, with a maximum of a 20% increase.  

To date, Montgomery Parks has collected over $15 million in PIPs out of a total of approximately $24.5 

million conditioned by the Planning Board with Site Plan approvals.  In 2020 the Planning Board 

approved the expenditure of roughly $9.75 million in PIP funds for the acquisition of the properties at 

7800 and 7810 Wisconsin Avenue, at the intersection of Wisconsin Avenue and Norfolk Avenue. This 

total includes associated real estate and acquisition cost for this and other properties. While this 

purchase was intended for park improvements at the Veterans Park Civic Green, the multi-party 

development that would have included this property did not move forward and Montgomery Parks 

retains ownership of the property.  Parks will seek to dispose of the property in a timely and profitable 

manner in accordance with the refined focus on meeting the existing recommendations for this park 

west of Woodmont Avenue. An additional $2.5 million in PIP funds have been approved for use, but not 

spent, on the future park at Parking Lots 10 and 24 that will extend the southern portion of the Eastern 

Greenway south from Elm Street Urban Park. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 18 

31



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Reconsidering the PIP 

Park and Planning staf and the Planning Board have heard from the Bethesda resident community that 

the PIP rate needs to be raised to provide additional funds to implement new parks in the Plan Area.  

Conversely, the Bethesda development community has said that an increased PIP rate would make 

new projects even more dificult, and points out that the Plan-recommended Civic Greens (i.e., Veterans 

Park, Capital Crescent Civic Green, and the Farm Women’s Market) have been delayed not by a lack of 

PIP funds, but rather by property owners unwilling to sell, delayed Purple Line Construction, and 

complex multi-party contract negotiations.  Fewer development projects mean fewer PIPs and less 

money overall for new parks in downtown Bethesda. 

To explore the potential impact of an increased PIP rate on new development, Staf contracted with an 

economic consultant, Partners for Economic Solutions (PES).  PES analyzed whether new development 

projects can absorb the additional cost or whether a higher fee might prove to be an obstruction.  PES 

prepared four pro forma analyses for diferent project types – residential apartments, residential 

condominiums, ofice and hotel – to examine the financial feasibility of development in downtown 

Bethesda.  

PES’s analysis determined that in the current real estate market it is dificult for development projects 

to move forward. This is largely due to the escalation in construction costs outpacing escalation in 

rents, making it dificult for developers to put together a profitable project. While the PIP in each pro 

forma represents 1% or less of the total development costs (construction costs are more than 50%), 

projects are not typically generating profits at levels that could easily absorb an increase to the PIP rate.  

 Staf also heard from the development community that the requirement to make the PIP in a lump sum 

at first building permit can present a financing challenge.  PIPs vary by project since they are 

determined by the amount of requested BOZ density, and approved PIPs have ranged from around 

$200,000 for smaller projects to closer to $2 million for larger projects (the smallest being just over 

$60,000 and the largest being just over $5 million).  MCDPS administers the permit program, and 

coordinates with Montgomery Planning throughout the permitting process to ensure all Planning 

Board conditions of approval are met.  The final permit review, typically the use-and-occupancy permit, 

is the last permit process deadline where Montgomery Planning has a measure of control.  

The MMPA recommends that the PIP rate be adjusted to correct for the 2019 and 2021 rate adjustment 

calculations that used the annual average instead of cumulative inflationary increases.  This would 

result in setting the PIP rate at $15.57 per square foot of BOZ density requested. This would be a nearly 

25% raise in the PIP rate but would result in less than a 0.2% increase in the development costs for each 

pro forma. Accurately reflecting the changing costs of construction in the region is important to 

maintaining a PIP rate that provides impactful additional funds for parks while not creating an 

obstruction to development.  

In acknowledgement of the potential financing burden posed by making a full PIP at the first building 

permit the MMPA further recommends that the PIP be made in two equal payments – the first half at 

the first building permit and the second half at the first use and occupancy permit. Together these 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 19 

32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

recommended changes to the PIP aim to continue to both support new parks and encourage new 

development in the Plan Area. 

Expanding the PIP Reduction 

The BOZ currently stipulates that if a property owner dedicates to the Montgomery Parks land 

designated in the master plan as a recommended open space, the Planning Board may reduce the 

amount of square footage for which a PIP must be made.  As a primary purpose of PIP funds is the 

acquisition of parkland recommended in the master plan, this reduction reflects the benefit of having 

the land dedicated directly to the Montgomery Parks.  

To allow greater flexibility for private development to provide master-planned open space, the MMPA 

recommends the consideration of extending this PIP reduction to land designated in the master plan as 

a recommended open space that a property owner makes publicly accessible as a Privately Owned 

Public Space (POPS) under conditions approved by Montgomery Parks and the Planning Board, 

including maintaining the POPS to Montgomery Parks standards and ensuring public access.  

Montgomery Parks and Planning staf should further investigate the potential implications, both 

positive and negative, of extending the PIP reduction to include POPS and present a recommendation 

to the Planning Board for consideration alongside other actions required to update the BOZ as 

recommended elsewhere in this MMPA. 

4.5. Recreation Center 

The 2017 Plan recommends the “study and implementation” of a new recreation center but does not 

otherwise incentivize it.  A new recreation center could be built in one of three ways: entirely by the 

County, by a private developer and dedicated to the County, or through a public-private partnership. No 

matter the process, creation of a new recreation center would be coordinated through the Department 

of General Services and the Department of Recreation.  Space requirements for a recreation center limit 

the number of potential sites within downtown Bethesda, and the high cost of land acquisition and 

construction, as well as ongoing operational costs, impact a new recreation center as they do a new 

building or a new park. 

To incentivize the realization of a new recreation center in downtown Bethesda, the MMPA 

recommends: 

 Allowing the Planning Board to reduce a PIP for land dedicated to a new recreation center, 

similar to the existing provision allowing the Planning Board to reduce a PIP for land dedicated 

for parks; 

 Updating the priority Public Benefits identified in the Plan to include a new recreation center as 

a “Major Public Facility”; 

 Credit the area of the recreation center toward any required public open space; and 

 Allowing the Planning Board to approve up to two additional stories above the mapped 

building height for a site that includes a new recreation center, as it determines necessary to 

accommodate the recreation center use. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 20 

33



 

 

  

 

 
 

  

 

 
 

   

 
 

 
  

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

   

4.6. Afordable Housing 

Afordable housing is a key priority of the 2017 Plan vision.  The Plan and BOZ require a minimum of 

15% MPDUs to be provided in new Optional Method of Development projects, compared with the 

minimum statutory requirement of 12.5%.  The BOZ also provides significant incentives for MPDUs: 

 In a designated Height Incentive Area, projects providing more than 17.5% MPDUs may exceed

the height limit of the applicable zone to the extent required to provide MPDUs.

 Gross floor area for MPDUs is deducted from BOZ density when calculating the required PIP.

 Outside the designated Height Incentive Area, projects providing more than 17.5% MPDUs may

further deduct from the required PIP the gross floor area of MPDUs above 15%.

 Projects providing 25% MPDUs or more are exempt from a PIP required for any residential gross

floor area.

 The Planning Board may grant MPDU Public Benefit points for developments providing more

than 15% MPDUs.

 Projects providing more than 15% MPDUs are required to satisfy one fewer Public Benefit point

category. 

 For a project providing at least 20% MPDUs, only the Exceptional Design and, in the High-

Performance Area, Energy Conservation and Generation Public Benefit points are required.

Promoting Family-Sized and Deeply Afordable MPDUs 

The BOZ MPDU requirements and incentives have built over 400 MPDUs in downtown Bethesda, with 

more approved for future construction: a significant contribution to realizing the vision of the 2017 

Plan. What these incentives do not specifically address, however, are the pressing need for family-size 

MPDUs with three or more bedrooms and more deeply afordable MPDUs for residents with lower 

incomes.  These units can be challenging to build due to the combination of higher per-unit 

construction costs and reduced rental income. 

The MMPA recommends updating the BOZ to allow the Planning Board, in coordination with the County 

Department of Housing and Community Afairs (DHCA) – which implements the MPDU program – to 

approve the above credits also for developments with only 15% MPDUs but with family-sized MPDUs 

that exceed the minimum number required under 25A and/or deeply afordable MPDUs (as defined by 

DHCA).   

Redevelopment of Sites with Naturally Occurring Afordable Housing 

“Naturally occurring afordable housing” (NOAH) is a term used to describe typically older, ofen 

garden-style apartment buildings with lower-than-market rents due to various factors and that are not 

covered by the MPDU program.  Recent master plans like the 2019 Veirs Mill Corridor Master Plan, the

2022 Silver Spring Downtown and Adjacent Communities Plan, and the 2024 Takoma Park Minor Master 
Plan Amendment all included recommendations to strive for “no net loss” of existing NOAH when those

sites redevelop. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 21 

34



 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

As sites with NOAH begin to redevelop in downtown Bethesda, Planning and DHCA staf have been 

working with developers to ensure that the redevelopment is consistent with the Plan priority of 

promoting afordable housing.  The MMPA recommends that redevelopment of NOAH sites in 

downtown Bethesda also strive for no net loss of the NOAH units within the larger redevelopment, 

particularly in conjunction with the recommendation above regarding family-sized and deeply 

afordable units.  The Master Plan recommends that DHCA coordinate a workgroup to determine how 

to define NOAH, how to demonstrate the existence of NOAH affordability, and what could be done 

when such units are demolished. 

Expand Height Incentive Area east of Arlington Road 

For properties in the CR zone, the Zoning Ordinance allows developments exceeding the minimum 

percentage of MPDUs to exceed the height limit of the applicable zone to the extent required to provide 

the MPDUs. The BOZ supersedes this provision, first by raising the threshold percentage of MPDUs to 

17.5%, and second by limiting the allowance to projects located in the designated Height Incentive Area 

included in the BOZ and shown below.  The purpose of this delineation was to provide surrounding 

primarily single-family communities greater certainty on maximum building height for new 

development in the downtown.   

Excluded from the Height Incentive Area are the blocks east of Arlington Road, between Moorland Lane 

to below Montgomery Avenue.  These blocks include a mix of multi-family apartment buildings ranging 

in height from four to 15 stories, townhouses ranging from three to four stories, and single-family 

structures, predominantly used as businesses.  The single-family structure sites are zoned CR with a 

maximum height of 60 and 70 feet.  To encourage these underdeveloped sites to redevelop and provide 

more much-needed afordable housing, the MMPA recommends expanding the Height Incentive Area to 

Arlington Road in this area, but limiting any additional height on these blocks to a maximum of 24 feet 

or not more than two stories.  These blocks front onto the library and Bethesda Elementary School site 

and will have reduced impact on the single-family homes behind those sites. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 22 

35



 

 

 

 

 Figure 4. Existing BOZ Height Incentive Area Map 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 23 

36



 

 

 

 

  

Figure 5. Recommended Expanded BOZ Height Incentive Area Map 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 24 

37



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.7. Additional BOZ Updates 

The BOZ has been very efective in ensuring progress toward implementation of the Plan vision.  Many 

elements and priorities of the 2017 Plan are implemented through the zoning code language of the 

BOZ: BOZ density; the Development Level; PIPs; MPDUs; Public Benefit points; Public Open Space; and 

the “use-or-lose” provisions attached to the use of BOZ density.  While the MMPA recommendations for 

several of these have been discussed above, the MMPA also recommends addressing BOZ density, 

Public Benefit points, and the “use-or-lose” provisions. 

Requirements to Purchase BOZ Density 

The BOZ now requires that projects must use “all” mapped density before they can request BOZ 

density.  Mapped CR zones set total maximum density and the maximum proportion of commercial 

uses and residential uses.  For example, a property zoned CR-5.0 C-4.0 R-4.75 H-175 has a total 

allowable mapped density of 5.0 FAR, which can be made up of no more than 4 FAR of commercial uses 

and 4.75 FAR of residential uses (with a maximum building height of 175 feet).  If this sample project is a 

multifamily development, in order to use up “all” its mapped density and thus be able to request BOZ 

density (and make a corresponding PIP), 0.25 of commercial FAR would have to be provided in addition 

to the maximum 4.75 FAR. Given market conditions, the additional commercial FAR may be unwanted 

and dificult to lease.   

To address this unnecessary hurdle in the development process and promote flexibility for developers 

to meet market conditions, the MMPA recommends updating the BOZ to allow purchase of BOZ density 

for projects using all mapped commercial or residential FAR.  

Public Benefit Points 

The CR zone requires specific categories of Public Benefits to be provided with new Optional Method of 

Development projects.  To focus Public Benefits toward the master plan vision, plans set priorities 

among the available Public Benefits.  The BOZ has specific requirements for Public Benefit points, 

including modifying the number of points required and available for projects to provide. 

Energy 

To promote sustainability and energy eficiency in new construction, the BOZ requires that buildings 

within a designated “High-Performance Area” achieve 15 Public Benefit points from Energy 

Conservation and Generation.  To achieve this, the Zoning Ordinance requires that buildings exceed the 

energy-eficiency standards for the building type by 17.5% for new buildings or 10% for existing 

buildings. 

Since the Plan was approved in 2017, the County has been working to adopt ever-more-eficient 

building and energy codes, making the BOZ “stretch goal” a requirement.  These important advances 

have made exceeding these higher energy-eficiency standards by 17.5% significantly more dificult.  In 

recognition of the County’s higher eficiency standards and to remove an unintended obstacle to 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 25 

38



 

 

  

 

 

  

   

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

development, the MMPA recommends updating the BOZ to change the requirement from achieving 15 

points in the Energy Conservation and Generation Public Benefit category to exceeding the applicable 

building and/or energy code.  The MMPA also recommends updating the Bethesda Downtown Plan 
Implementation Guidelines to identify the appropriate standard and methodology for determining the

number of Public Benefit points. 

Incentive Zoning Update 

Montgomery Planning is currently undertaking a project called the “Incentive Zoning Update” (IZU) to 

update the Public Benefits point system for the CR zones.  While this efort will not rezone any parcels 

or alter existing development, the efort will update the system used to evaluate new development and 

determine to what extent a development must provide corresponding public amenities. This update 

will also better align the point system with countywide priorities as envisioned in initiatives like Thrive 
Montgomery 2050, the Climate Action Plan, and implementation of the county’s RESJ law.

In Summer 2024, the Planning Board approved the draf IZU for transmittal to County Council for 

review and approval. One of the key recommendations approved by the Planning Board was to enable 

sector plans to customize the menu of Public Benefits in a way that would achieve county-wide 

priorities and provide local infrastructure and amenities. The 2017 Plan and the BOZ provisions have 

been very successful in guiding and producing Optional Method of Development projects that provide 

Public Benefits envisioned in the Plan, such as afordable housing, sustainable design, and parks 

funding. Therefore, the MMPA recommends that any Zoning Text Amendment resulting from the IZU to 

modify the Zoning Ordinance Public Benefit section acknowledges this success when determining if 

and how the BOZ should transition to utilizing the new Incentive Zoning framework. 

Public Art 

The BOZ increases the maximum number of Public Benefit points for Public Art from 15 to 20 but does 

not have other specific language for this Public Benefit.  The Public Benefit provisions for Public Art in 

the CR Zone allow points for paying a fee accepted by the Public Arts Trust Steering Committee.   

The State of Maryland designated downtown Bethesda as an Arts and Entertainment (A&E) District, 

which is managed by the Bethesda Urban Partnership (BUP).  In coordination with BUP, the A&E Board 

fundraises, as a not-for-profit organization, and champions a diverse number of arts and entertainment 

projects in the district.   To provide greater flexibility to promote payments for public art projects in 

downtown Bethesda, the MMPA recommends updating the BOZ to allow fee payments to also be 

accepted by BUP, the Bethesda A&E District, or other civic arts organization accepted by the Planning 

Board. 

BOZ Density “Use-or-Lose” Provision 

The BOZ requires projects using BOZ density to apply for a building permit within two years of Site Plan 

approval and to “pull” that permit within an additional two years, or the Site Plan approval is revoked.  

In practice, particularly in the context of the recent and anticipated uncertainty in the real estate 

development market, this provision reduces the ability of potential development projects to be ready 

to respond to market conditions.  With the MMPA recommendation to remove a specific development 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 26 

39



 

 

  

  

 

  

 

 

  

 

  

level from the BOZ, this requirement is no longer required.  Additionally, the Subdivision Ordinance 

Adequate Public Facilities finding, which the Planning Board must make for each application, requires 

projects to get a building permit in 5 years.  To promote flexibility to meet market conditions, the MMPA 

recommends updating the BOZ to remove the “use-or-lose” provision. 

4.8. Public Amenities and Benefits 

The 2017 Plan identifies projects in the Plan Districts that would qualify for a fee-in-lieu payment under 

Section 6.3.6.C.2 of the County Zoning Ordinance.  The MMPA recommends adding to this list the 

following projects, but on a Plan-Area-wide basis: 

 New recreation center and/other civic buildings or spaces, including related studies.

4.9. Public Benefits in the CR Zone

The 2017 Plan lists five top-priority Public Benefits for Optional Method of Development projects.  As 

discussed above, the MMPA recommends adding a sixth: 

 Major Public Facility: New Recreation Center

To incentivize the recommendation for a much-needed new public recreation center, the MMPA 

recognizes as a Major Public Facility a new recreation center for downtown Bethesda. 

4.10. Expanded Tree Canopy in Downtown Bethesda and Surrounding Communities 

The 2017 Plan priorities the expansion of the tree canopy in Plan Area.  This will be achieved both 

through the planting of new trees in parks and open spaces and new street trees along the frontage of 

new private development.  To further expand the potential for more trees in Bethesda, the MMPA 

recommends building on incentive programs like Reforest Montgomery that ofers property owners a 

variety of incentives to plant trees within the county. 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 27 

40



 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

Ofice of the Planning Director 

Jason K. Sartori, Director 

Robert Kronenberg, Deputy Director  

Bridget Broullire, Acting Deputy Director  

Downcounty Planning Division 

Elza Hisel-McCoy, Chief, Lead Planner 

Stephanie Dickel, Regulatory Supervisor 

Larissa Klevan, Master Plan Supervisor 

Cashielle Nelson, Administrative Superstar 

Grace Bogdan 

Atara Margolies 

Katie Mencarini 

Tyler Milam 

Tina Schneider 

Countywide Planning and Policy 

Dave Anspacher, Chief 

Hye-Soo Baek 

Darcy Buckley 

Lisa Govoni 

Jon Ryder 

Jun Yang 

Research and Strategic Projects 

Carrie McCarthy, Chief 

Nick Holdzkom 

Ben Kraf 

James Lee 

Montgomery Parks  

Henry Coppola 

Christie Ciabotti 

Communications  

Chris Peifer, Acting Chief 

Darrell Godfrey 

George Lettis 

Christine Rufo 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Implementation 

Advisory Committee 

Jack Alexander, Co-Chair 

Dedun Ingram, Co-Chair 

Jad Donohoe 

Amanda Farber 

Michael Fetchko 

Matt Gordon 

Joyce Gwadz 

Andy O’Hare 

Patrick O’Neil 

Andrew Saul 

Christopher Smith 

Naomi Spinrad 

Stacy Wolf 

Montgomery County Department of General 

Services 

Ronnie L. Warner 

Montgomery County Department of Housing 

and Community Afairs 

Somer Cross 

Maggie Gallagher 

Montgomery County Department of 

Permitting Services 

Bryan Bomer 

Alyssa Mrvos 

Keith Carl Walker 

Montgomery County Department of 

Transportation 

Andrew Bossi 

Chris Van Alstyne 

Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draf Dec 2024 | 28 

41



This page intentionally left blank.  

42



CERTIFICATION OF APPROVAL AND ADOPTION 

BETHESDA DOWNTOWN PLAN MINOR MASTER PLAN AMENDMENT 

This Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment constitutes a technical amendment 
to portions of the approved and adopted 2017 Bethesda Downtown Plan, as well as an amendment 
to Thrive Montgomery 2050, the County’s General Plan and has been approved and adopted by the 
Montgomery County Council, sitting the District Council, by Resolution 20-770 on April 18, 2025, 
and adopted by the Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission by Resolution 25-08 
on May 21, 2025, after duly advertised public hearings pursuant to the Land Use Article- Division II, 
of the Annotated Code of Maryland. 

THE MARYLAND-NATIONAL CAPITAL PARK AND PLANNING COMMISSION 

____________________________   ____________________________ 
Artie L. Harris  Peter Shapiro 
Chair   Vice-Chair 

____________________________ 
Gavin Cohen 

Secretary-Treasurer 

43



This page intentionally left blank.  

44



MEMORANDUM 

DATE: May 7, 2025 

TO: The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning, Full Commission 

FROM: Paul J. Sun, Land Acquisition Specialist  PJS 
Park Planning and Environmental Stewardship 
Department of Parks and Recreation 

SUBJECT: PGCPB Resolution No. 2025-032 (M-NCPPC No. 25-10) 

Attached, please find the above referenced PGCPB Resolution regarding the granting of 
perpetual easements on Commission owned property along the Paint Branch Stream to 
Prince George’s County.  

The Commission agrees to grant these easements to Prince George’s County for the 
implementation and completion of their stream restoration work. 

We request that the Prince George’s County Planning Board Resolution be scheduled for 
adoption by the Full Commission in May of 2025. 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 

Attachment: 
• PGPB Resolution No. 2025-032 / M-NCPPC Resolution No. 25-10

Item 1c

45



This page intentionally left blank.  

46



M-NCPPC No. 25-10

47



48



Prince George’s County Planning 
Board: 

April 17, 2025

AGENDA

Grant of Stream Channel Improvement and Access 

Easements for Paint Branch Stream Restoration

49



Paint Branch Stream 
Restoration Project

As part of the ongoing work to improve the water quality in 
both Prince George’s County and ultimately the 
Chesapeake Bay, the Paint Branch Stream Restoration 
Project was performed by the US Army Corps of Engineers 
(USACE).

• In partnership with the Prince George’s Department of
the Environment (DOE) as part of the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between M-NCPPC and DOE.

• A large portion of the project lies within M-NCPPC owned
property.

• These easements will clearly define an area for present
and future inspection and maintenance, including but not
limited to access to and from the actual area of the
restoration.

• These easements will be recorded in the Prince George’s
County Land Records.

50



Paint Branch Stream Restoration 

Property of  the Maryland- 
National Capital Park and 

Planning Commission

51



Acredale Park:

From University Boulevard to 
Metzerott Road

• Approximately 2.54 acres across 
2 parcels of land

• A 306 square foot access 
easement from Metzerott Road

52



• Approximately 3.66 acres 
across 4 parcels of land

• A 4,950 square foot access 
easement from Metzerott 
Road

Paint Branch Stream Valley Park:

South of Metzerott Road

53



Paint Branch Stream Valley 
Park:

(Adjacent to Northgate Urban Park)

Approximately 0.98 acres

54



Paint Branch Stream 
Restoration Project

The grant of easements to Prince George’s County will consist of:

• Channel Improvement Easements totaling  7.3± acres across
seven parcels (Parcels148; 63; C; 143; 6; 10 and 137)

• 2 Access Easements totaling 0.12 ± acres across two parcels
(Parcel 148 and 63)

• As this is a public benefit, there are no cost considerations

• Subject to Final Approval by the Full Commission

55



Paint Branch Stream 
Restoration Project

STAFF
RECOMMENDATION

Approval
(Tyler/Pettiford/Sun)

(Subject to final approval by The Full Commission)

56



Commission Meeting 
Open Session Minutes 

April 16, 2025 

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission met virtually via videoconference.  The meeting 
was broadcast by the Montgomery County Planning Department. 

PRESENT  

Montgomery County Commissioners Prince George’s County Commissioners 
James Hedrick Peter A. Shapiro, Vice Chair 
Josh Linden Dorothy Bailey 

Manuel Geraldo 

NOT PRESENT 
Artie Harris, Chair A. Shuanise Washington
Shawn Bartley 
Mitra Pedoeem  

Vice Chair Shapiro called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

ITEM 1   MEETING AGENDA  
a) Approval of the April 16, 2025 Commission meeting Agenda

Chair Shapiro said the Commission will defer Item 5e until the May Commission meeting. 

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve the amended agenda 
Seconded by Commissioner Hedrick 
5 approved the item   

ITEM 2 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
a) Approval of Commission Minutes – Open Session

Regular Meeting: 3/19/25

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve the 3/19/25 minutes 
Seconded by Commissioner Hedrick 
4 approved the item  
1 abstained (Linden) 

ITEM 3  GENERAL ANNOUNCEMENTS 
a) Stress Awareness Month
b) Alcohol Awareness Month
c) Arab American Heritage Month
d) Upcoming National Prevention Week, May 11-17
e) Financial Disclosure Filing Requirement April 30 (State and M-NCPPC Deadline)

Item 2a

57



Commission Meeting Minutes – Open Session 2 
April 16, 2025 

ITEM 4  COMMITTEE/BOARD REPORTS 
a) Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes from March 4,

2025 (for Information Only)

ITEM 5 ACTION/PRESENTATION ITEMS 
a) Wage Adjustments for Seasonal-Intermittent Employees (Allen/King)

1. Resolution #25-05 Adjustment to Minimum Wage for all Employees
2. Resolution #25-06 FY2025 COLA for Seasonal/Intermittent Pay Schedules and

Employees

Corporate HR Director Allen asked Commissioners to consider the adoption of the two wage 
resolutions included in the packet, adjusting the pay of the agency’s Seasonal/Intermittent 
employees.  These adjustments are supported by department heads, the acting Executive 
Director, the Corporate HR Director and the Classification and Compensation Manager. 

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve Resolution 25-05 
Seconded by Commissioner Hedrick 
5 approved the item  

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve Resolution 25-06 
Seconded by Commissioner Bailey 
5 approved the item  

b) Resolution 25-07 Appointment of Shanna Brewton-Tiayon to the Merit System Board (King)

Commissioners considered the appointment of Ms. Brewton-Tiayon to the Merit Board.  Ms.
Brewton-Tiayon’s resume and the appointment resolution were issued as a late delivery item.
Vice-Chair Shapiro noted his appreciation for experienced professionals such as Ms.
Brewton-Tiayon, who provide their expertise to the agency.

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve the Resolution 25-07
Seconded by Commissioner Bailey
5 approved the item

c) Proposed Amendments to Administrative Practice 1-30 Organization and Functions of the
Office of the Secretary-Treasurer (Harvin/Beckham)

Corporate Policy and Archives Chief Beckham asked Commissioners to approve
amendments to Administrative Practice 1-30, as laid out in the packet.  The amendments
were prompted by a recent audit by the agency’s Office of the Inspector General and clarify
that the agency’s end-user security functions fall under the Office of the Chief Information
Officer.  These changes are consistent with the agency’s improvements to their cyber security
posture.  Other functions of the Office of the Secretary-Treasurer’s Office will remain
unchanged.

Vice Chair Shapiro noted his appreciation for the Office of the Inspector General in helping
the agency become more efficient, effective and safe.

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve the Amendments to Practice 1-30
Seconded by Commissioner Bailey
5 approved the item

58



Commission Meeting Minutes – Open Session 3 
April 16, 2025 

d) Proposed Amendments to M-NCPPC Park Rules and Regulations (Aniton)

Deputy General Counsel Aniton asked Commissioners to approve and adopt proposed
amendments to the M-NCPPC Park Rules and Regulations.  Mr. Aniton provided background
on the proposed amendments, brought about from a review and recommendation during the
agency’s 2024 CAPRA accreditation.  He then reviewed major changes to the policy as
provided in the packet.

Commissioner Geraldo asked if there is an exclusion on the leashed dogs provision while in
M-NCPPC Dog Parks.  Mr. Aniton said he would review the provision and amend/clarify the
policy as appropriate.

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Geraldo to approve the Park Rules and Regulations 
Amendments with discussed modifications. 
Seconded by Commissioner Bailey 
5 approved the item  

e) Follow-up on GLP-1 Drug Policy (Allen)

Item deferred to the May meeting.

ITEM 6  OFFICERS’ REPORTS    
Executive Director’s Report 
a) Quarterly Late Evaluation Report (for information only)
b) CIO’s Quarterly Report (for information only)

Secretary-Treasurer’s Report 
  No report scheduled 

General Counsel’s Report 
c) Litigation Report (For information only)
d) Legislative Update (Borden)

General Counsel Borden said she would present to Commissioners the final year-end Legislative
Update during the May meeting.  In the interim, she added she is available to come to the separate
planning board meetings to answer questions on specific bills.

Pursuant to the Maryland General Provisions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, section 3-305(b)(9) a 
closed session is proposed to conduct collective bargaining negotiations or consider matters that relate to the 
negotiations. 

Item 5. CLOSED SESSION 

ACTION:  Motion of Commissioner Bailey to enter closed session 
Seconded by Commissioner Geraldo  
5 approved the motion 

Commissioners entered Closed session at 10:24 a.m.  Open session resumed at 10:30 a.m.  Vice Chair Shapiro 
said during closed session, Acting Executive Director Spencer briefed Commissioners on the status of 
negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police and Municipal and County Government Employees’ Organization 
collective bargaining units.  The Commissioners also passed closed session minutes from the previous meeting. 

59



Commission Meeting Minutes – Open Session 4 
April 16, 2025 

Vice Chair Shapiro adjourned the meeting at 10:31 a.m. 

_______________________________________       ___________________________________ 
James F. Adams, Senior Technical Writer      Tracey Harvin, Corporate Policy and Management 

    Operations Director, for 
 William Spencer, Acting Executive Director 

60



WRITTEN STATEMENT FOR CLOSING A MEETING 
UNDER THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

Date: 4/16/2025 Time: 10:24 am 
Location: Via Videoconference 

Motion to close meeting made by Commissioner Bailey.  Seconded by Commissioner Geraldo. 

Members voting in favor: Bailey, Geraldo, Hedrick, Linden, Shapiro 

Opposed: N/A        Abstaining:  N/A      Absent: Bartley, Harris, Pedoeem, Washington 

STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO CLOSE SESSION, General Provisions Article, §3-305(b) 
(check all that apply): 

_ ___(1) To discuss the appointment, employment, assignment, promotion, discipline, demotion, 
compensation, removal, resignation, or performance evaluation of appointees, employees, 
or officials over whom this public body has jurisdiction; or any other personnel matter that 
affects one or more specific individuals; 

____ (2) To protect the privacy or reputation of individuals concerning a matter not related to public 
business; 

____ (3) To consider the acquisition of real property for a public purpose and matters directly related 
thereto; 

____ (4) To consider a matter that concerns the proposal for a business or industrial organization to 
locate, expand, or remain in the State;  

____ (5) To consider the investment of public funds; 
(6) To consider the marketing of public securities;

_ __  (7) To consult with counsel to obtain legal advice on a legal matter; 
____ (8) To consult with staff, consultants, or other individuals about pending or potential litigation; 
__x   (9) To conduct collective bargaining negotiations or consider matters that relate to the 

negotiations; 
____ (10) To discuss public security, if the public body determines that public discussion would 

constitute a risk to the public or to public security, including: (i) the deployment of fire and 
police services and staff; and (ii) the development and implementation of emergency plans; 

____ (11) To prepare, administer, or grade a scholastic, licensing, or qualifying examination; 
____ (12) To conduct or discuss an investigative proceeding on actual or possible criminal conduct; 
____ (13) To comply with a specific constitutional, statutory, or judicially imposed requirement that 

prevents public disclosures about a particular proceeding or matter; 
____ (14) Before a contract is awarded or bids are opened, to discuss a matter directly related to a 

negotiating strategy or the contents of a bid or proposal, if public discussion or disclosure 
would adversely impact the ability of the public body to participate in the competitive 
bidding or proposal process. 

_ _   (15)  To discuss cybersecurity, if the public body determines that public discussion would 
constitute a risk to: (i) security assessments or deployments relating to information 
resources technology; (ii) network security information, such as information that is related 
to passwords, personal ID numbers, access codes, encryption, security devices, or 
vulnerability assessments or that a governmental entity collects or maintains to prevent, 
detect, or investigate criminal activity; or (iii) deployments or implementation of security 
personnel, critical infrastructure, or security devices. 

61



2 

FOR EACH CITATION CHECKED ABOVE, THE REASONS FOR CLOSING AND 
TOPICS TO BE DISCUSSED: 

Pursuant to the Maryland General Provisions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, 
section 3-305(b)(9) a closed session is proposed to conduct collective bargaining negotiations or 
consider matters that relate to the negotiations. 

Topics to be discussed: 
Commissioners to be briefed on the status of collective bargaining negotiations with the 
Municipal and County Government Employees’ Organization and Fraternal Order of Police 
Collective Bargaining Units. 

 This statement is made by: 

Peter Shapiro, Vice-Chair, Presiding Officer. 
PRINT NAME 

SIGNATURE & DATE 
16 April 2025

62



APRIL 1, 2025 MINUTES, AS APPROVED     
AT THE MAY 6, 2025 BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING MINUTES 
Tuesday, April 1, 2025; 10:00 a.m. 

Kenilworth Office Building, Riverdale, MD 
(Virtual Meeting via Microsoft Teams) 

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission (“Commission”) Employees’ Retirement System 
(“ERS”) Board of Trustees (“Board”) met virtually with CHAIR SHAPIRO leading the meeting on Tuesday,  
April 1, 2025.  The meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m. by CHAIR SHAPIRO. 

Board Members Present 
Peter A. Shapiro, Board of Trustees Chair, Prince George’s County Commissioner  
James Hedrick, Board of Trustees Vice Chair, Montgomery County Commissioner 
Gavin Cohen, CPA, M-NCPPC Secretary-Treasurer, Ex-Officio  
Pamela F. Gogol, Montgomery County Public Member  
Sheila Morgan-Johnson, Prince George’s County Public Member  
Theodore J. Russell III, Prince George’s County Open Trustee  
Elaine A. Stookey, Bi-County Open Trustee 
Sgt. Anton White, FOP Represented Trustee 
William Spencer, M-NCPPC Acting Executive Director, Ex-Officio 
Lisa Blackwell-Brown, MCGEO Represented Trustee  Joined at 10:03 a.m. 

Board Members Absent  
Caroline McCarthy, Montgomery County Open Trustee 

ERS Staff Present 
Jaclyn F. Harris, Executive Director 
Alicia C. Stanford, Administrative Specialist 
Sheila Joynes, Accounting Manager 

Others Present 
Michael “Wes” Aniton, Deputy General Counsel, M-NCPPC Office of the General Counsel 

Presenters  
Meketa Investment Group – Mary Mustard, CFA and Aaron Lally, CFA, CAIA, CIPM 

ITEM 1. APPROVAL OF APRIL 1, 2025 CONSENT AGENDA 

ACTION: MR. RUSSELL made a motion, seconded by MS. GOGOL to Approve the Consent Agenda of April 
1, 2025. MS. BLACKWELL-BROWN was absent from this vote.  The motion PASSED. (9-0) 
(Motion # 25-7). 

ITEM 2. CHAIR’S ITEMS 

ITEM 2.A. CONFERENCE AND TRAINING SUMMARY – No notable discussion from the Board. 

Item 4

63



2 

APRIL 1, 2025 MINUTES, AS APPROVED     
AT THE MAY 6, 2025 BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 

ITEM 2.B. Acknowledge the Reappointment of Sergeant Anton White as the Fraternal Order of the Police 
Representative Trustee for the Term of July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2028. 

ACTION: VICE CHAIR HEDRICK made a motion, seconded by MS. STOOKEY to acknowledge the 
reappointment of Sergeant Anton White.  The motion PASSED. (10-0).  (Motion # 25-8). 

ITEM 2.C. Acknowledge the Reappointment of Lisa Blackwell-Brown as the UFCW Local 1994 MCGEO 
Representative Trustee for the Term of July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2028. 

ACTION: VICE CHAIR HEDRICK made a motion, seconded by MS. GOGOL to acknowledge the 
reappointment of Lisa Blackwell-Brown.  The motion PASSED. (10-0).  (Motion # 25-9). 

ITEM 3. CONSULTANT/MANAGER PRESENTATIONS 

MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP 

Mr. Lally gave a concise summary of the asset-liability assessment process that Meketa and IMG conducted over the 
last three months.  At the March 18, 2025 IMG meeting, the IMG collectively agreed, with the support of Meketa, to 
recommend a new asset allocation policy.  Mr. Lally provided an overview of the recommended changes in allocation 
percentages in certain asset classes and stated that the newly recommended policy is expected to provide better 
downside protection (lower volatility) and better inflation protection (addition of TIPS asset class) than the current 
policy and “peer plans.”  The new asset allocation policy is forecasted to produce a return in excess of the actuarial 
target return of 6.7% over a long-term horizon of twenty years (73% probability of surpassing the return target).  Mr. 
Lally also discussed part of the analysis that highlighted how net benefit payments are expected to increase based on 
the maturity of the Plan and will become larger over the next twenty years. This analysis helped to emphasize the 
importance of having assets that will produce income while growing and protecting the assets over time.  

ACTION: VICE CHAIR HEDRICK made a motion, seconded by MR. RUSSELL to Approve the Asset 
Allocation Policy as recommended by Meketa Investment Group.  The motion PASSED. (10-0).  
(Motion # 25-10). 

Ms. Mustard provided a summary of the Plan’s performance as of February 28, 2025, noting a slightly positive month 
and the U.S. government’s focus on Fiscal Policy vs. Monetary Policy. The ERS Total Fund return for the month was 
0.4% (net of fees), compared to the Target Policy index return of 0.7%, underperforming by twenty basis points.  For 
the fiscal year-to-date, three, and trailing five-year periods ending February 28, 2025, the ERS Total Fund return 
stood at 5.8%, 4.6%, and 7.5%, respectively, compared to the Target Policy index returns of 6.7%, 5.6%, and 7.3%, 
respectively.  While the Total Fund, fiscal year-to-date, and trailing three-year periods underperformed, the portfolio 
slightly outperformed for the trailing five-year period.  

ITEM 4. COMMITTEE REPORTS/RECOMMENDATIONS 

ITEM 4.A. Administration and Personnel Oversight Committee 

Mr. Cohen reported that during the March 18, 2025 meeting, the Personnel Committee reviewed the Records 
Management and Budget Approval Policies.  The Records Management Policy details the retention schedule and 

64



3 

APRIL 1, 2025 MINUTES, AS APPROVED     
AT THE MAY 6, 2025 BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 

proper handling of ERS Records essential to operations. The Budget Approval Policy provides an overview of the 
procedure for approving the ERS annual operating budget. 

ACTION: MS. GOGOL made a motion, seconded by MR. WHITE to Approve the Governance Manual dated 
February 2025, which Incorporates the Records Management Policy and Budget Approval Policy. 
The motion PASSED. (10-0).  (Motion # 25-11). 

ITEM 5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

Ms. Harris provided an update on the Senior Retirement Analyst position, saying that after interviews were held on 
March 11, 2025, an offer was extended, and the selected candidate accepted the offer.  The Board will receive a future 
update on the candidate’s start date.  The Deputy Executive Director search is advancing, with interviews anticipated 
for the beginning of April.  Progress has also been made on preparations for the rollout of MemberDirect to retirees.  
Ms. Harris informed the Board that Staff will produce and mail postcards to retirees, make updates to the ERS website 
in preparation for the rollout, and an article will be featured in the upcoming Retiree Association Newsletter.  Next, 
she mentioned that the FY25 audit entrance meeting with auditors, SB & Company, LLC, is scheduled for April 29, 
2025.  Lastly, Ms. Harris reminded the trustees that their 2024 Financial Disclosure Statement is due to the 
Commission Executive Director’s Office by April 30, 2025, with a copy also to be sent to ERS.  

The Board meeting of April 1, 2025 adjourned at 10:44 a.m. 

Respectfully,  

Alicia C. Stanford Jaclyn F. Harris  
Administrative Specialist Executive Director 

65



This page intentionally left blank.  

66



1 

M E M O R A N D U M

EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (301) 454-1415 - Telephone

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission (301) 454-1413 - Facsimile
6611 Kenilworth Avenue, Suite 100 http://ers.mncppc.org
Riverdale, Maryland 20737 

To: The Maryland-National Capital Park Date: May 9, 2025 
& Planning Commission  

Via: Peter A. Shapiro, Chair 

From: Jaclyn F. Harris, Executive Director 
Sheila S. Joynes, Accounting Manager 

Subject: Resolution 25-09: Recommendation to Approve the FY26 Operating 

Budget for the        Employees’ Retirement System in the amount of $3,665,000 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Board of Trustees (“Board”) of the Maryland-National Capital Park & Planning 
Commission (“Commission”) Employees’ Retirement System (ERS) respectfully recommends 
approval of the FY26 ERS Operating Budget in the amount of $3,665,000, a 5.5% increase from 
FY25.  

MISSION 

The mission of the ERS is to prudently manage, protect, diversify, and administer the funds for 
the sole benefit of the members and beneficiaries to ensure sufficient assets are available to pay 
the promised benefits.  

BACKGROUND 

The ERS was established by the Commission on July 1, 1972, under a Trust Agreement with the 
ERS Board. Each year, the Board prepares an operating budget outlining projected expenses for 
Commission review and approval, including estimates for banking, investment consulting, and 
manager fees. While no external budget restrictions are imposed, the Board ensures the ERS budget 
aligns with operational needs and standards consistent with other local retirement systems. 

FY26 GOALS AND PRIORITIES 

The FY26 goals and priorities are designed to help the ERS effectively address key challenges, 
modernize operations through strategic use of technology, enhance member services to improve 
satisfaction, and strengthen the long-term sustainability of the system. Planned projects for the fiscal 
year will center on three strategic focus areas: Member Experience, Organizational Excellence, and 
Effective Administrative Governance. Funding in the FY26 budget supports several key priorities:  

• Enhancements to member service systems, including MemberDirect and PensionGold, with
associated maintenance and operational support costs.

Peter Shapiro (May 9, 2025 16:29 EDT)

67

Item 5b

http://ers.mncppc.org/
https://pgplanning.na1.echosign.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAArfwWJ5uxaTM85s-iaNBrgLLLJXdAAmv8


2 

• Completion of an Actuarial Experience Study for the five-year period ending June 30, 2025.

• Issuance of a Request for Proposal (RFP) for an Organizational Study of the ERS.

• Implementation of new software solutions to support annual financial and budget reporting, as
well as time and leave accrual tracking for staff.

• Investment manager searches aligned with the approved Asset Allocation Policy for the ERS
portfolio.

CONCLUSION 

The FY26 operating budget of $3,665,000 reflects a forward-looking approach to strengthening the 
ERS. By aligning resources with strategic priorities, the budget supports the continued modernization 
of operations, improvement of member services, and reinforcement of sound governance — laying a 
strong foundation for the system’s long-term success. 

Attachment 

1. FY26 Proposed Operating Budget Presentation; dated April 15, 2025

68



The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission 

FY26 Proposed Operating Budget

April 15, 2025

M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System

Employees’ Retirement System

Attachment 1

69



Mission

The mission of the Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission Employees’ 
Retirement System (ERS) is to prudently manage, protect, diversify, and administer the funds 
for the sole benefit of the members and beneficiaries to ensure sufficient assets are available 
to pay the promised benefits. 

M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System

Background 

Annually, the Board prepares and presents an operating budget setting forth projected 
expenditures for the operation of the ERS for the Commission’s review and approval. The 
Board approves an operating budget based on effectively managing the ERS’ fiscal work 
program requirements which is consistent with other local retirement systems. The Board 
also prepares certain projected expenses, including banking, investment consulting and 
investment manager fees for the Commission’s information. 

Recommendation 

Staff respectfully submit the FY26 Proposed Operating Budget to the Administration & 
Personnel Oversight Committee for approval and recommendation to the Board of Trustees 
(“Board”). The FY26 budget of $3,665,000 is a 5.5% increase from FY25.

1

70



FY26 Goals and Priorities 

M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System

Member 
Experience

Objective: Deliver accurate benefits for 
members and beneficiaries, provide services 
and educational tools to members, respond 
timely and with appropriate action to member 
inquiries. 

• Enhancements to MemberDirect and
PensionGold
•Membership Education

Organizational 

Excellence

Objective: Cultivate a highly skilled team, 
promote processes that are efficient & 
effective, champion transparency, and a culture 
of collaboration internally and with external 
vendors.

•Organizational Study
• Training and professional development
•Utilization of new software to promote

operational efficiency

Effective 

Administrative 

Governance

Objective: Provide support for the Board of 
Trustees so it may fulfill its fiduciary 
responsibilities, by documenting policies and 
procedures, compliance monitoring and data 
analytics. 

• Actuarial Experience Study for 5-year period
ending 6/30/25
• Investment Manager Searches
• External Legal Services
•Governance policies

2

71



Highlights of Proposed 
Operating Budget  

FY26 OPERATING BUDGET

The Proposed Operating Budget for FY26 is $3,665,000 which represents a 
5.5% increase from FY25. 

MEMBER SYSTEM UPGRADES

MemberDirect

PensionGold

(fees for maintenance and 

operational support) 

EDUCATION & PROFESSIONAL 

TRAINING 

Staff

Trustees 

Executive Training 

ACTUARIAL EXPERIENCE STUDY
($30,000 estimated fee) 

OPERATIONAL EFFECIENCY 

Implement a Software Solution for 

Annual Financial/ Budget Reporting  

and Time/Leave Accrual

INSURANCE COST

Fiduciary (5-7% Increase)

Cyber Security (5-10% Increase)

M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System 3

72



M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning 
Commission

Employees’ Retirement System Board of 
Trustees

Executive Director
Jaclyn Harris

Deputy Executive 
Director 

TBD

Administrative Specialist 
II

Alicia Stanford

IT Systems 
Manager

Ann McCosby

Accounting Manager

Sheila Joynes

Accountant

Charles Curtis

Member Relations Manager

Tonia Lanier

Member 
Relations 

Supervisor

Annette 
Silvestri

Retirement 
Systems 

Specialist

Mireya Lacey

Sr. 
Retirement 

Benefits 
Analyst

TBD

Sr. 
Retirement 

Benefits 
Analyst

Lisa   
Butler

Retirement 
Benefits 
Analyst

Kenya 
Hearn

Member 
Relations 
Assistant 

Christopher 
Baysmore

Employees’ Retirement System Organization Chart

4
73



M-NCPPC |  Employees’ Retirement System

Recommendation 

Staff respectfully submit the FY26 Proposed Operating Budget to the Administration & Personnel 

Oversight Committee for approval and recommendation to the Board of Trustees (“Board”). The 

FY26 budget of $3,665,000 is a 5.5% increase from FY25.

5
74



FY2023 FY2024 FY 2026

Actual as of Actual as of Budget Actual as of Projected Proposed Amount %

30-Jun-23 30-Jun-24 28-Feb-25 as of 6/30/25

PERSONNEL SERVICES:

SALARIES-FULL TIME 1,057,433     1,276,216      1,497,000      845,802        1,341,000      1,564,000      67,000        4.5%

SALARIES-PART TIME 48,804          51,366 72,000 34,805          56,000 61,000 (11,000)      -15.3%

     TOTAL SALARIES 1,106,237     1,327,582      1,569,000      880,607        1,397,000      1,625,000      56,000        3.6%

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 355,365        439,785          627,000          368,228        473,800         605,000         (22,000)      -3.5%

OPEB BENEFITS 33,079          29,402 30,000 30,300          30,300 29,000 (1,000)        -3.3%

RETIREE BENEFITS 21,851          23,068 24,000 44,661          44,700 59,000 35,000        145.8%

     TOTAL BENEFITS 410,295        492,255          681,000          443,189        548,800         693,000         12,000        1.8%

ACCRUED LEAVE & SALARY RELATED PAYMENTS 40,336          39,665 55,000 82,390          15,000 71,000 16,000        29.1%

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 1,556,868     1,859,502      2,305,000      1,406,186     1,960,800      2,389,000      84,000        3.6%

SUPPLIES & MATERIALS:

OFFICE SUPPLIES & FURNITURE 10,468          2,765 10,000 6,205 10,000 10,000 - 0.0%

COMPUTER SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 21,252          - 55,000 16,608          20,000 20,000 (35,000)      -63.6%

TOTAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 31,720          2,765 65,000 22,813          30,000 30,000 (35,000)      -53.8%

OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES:

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES:

  Actuarial 53,433          92,652 69,000 26,017          69,000 101,000         32,000        46.4%

  Auditing & Tax Consulting 12,093          25,828 32,000 25,204          32,000 33,000 1,000          3.1%

  Legal 88,950          94,860 220,000          22,940          220,000         220,000         - 0.0%

  Computer Consulting 75,316          77,266 88,000 78,352          88,000 92,000 4,000          4.5%

 EDUCATION AND TRAINING 10,137          25,233 32,000 13,883          32,000 36,000 4,000          12.5%

ADVERTISING 785 1,000 2,000 25 2,000 2,000 - 0.0%

COMMUNICATIONS 1,200 1,200 1,000 800 1,000 1,000 - 0.0%

POSTAGE 924 569 1,000 369 1,000 1,000 - 0.0%

INSURANCE 74,578          86,887 102,000          91,888          95,000 110,000         8,000          7.8%

MEMBERSHIPS AND SUBSCRIPTIONS 2,106 6,359 9,000 2,599 9,000 9,000 - 0.0%

MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES:

  Contractual Services 3,203 400 90,000 23,333          50,000 111,000         21,000        23.3%

  Payroll Services 4,862 5,164 5,000 3,697 5,000 7,000 2,000          40.0%

PRINTING & BINDING & IMAGING - - 1,000 - 1,000 1,000 - 0.0%

RENT: - - -

  Office 117,548        132,019          126,000          84,264          126,000         126,000         - 0.0%

  Copier 3,000 3,000 3,000 2,000 3,000 3,000 - 0.0%

MAINTENANCE/LICENSING 105,699        106,921          107,000          126,749        135,000         140,000         33,000        30.8%

OTHER 2,749 3,438 5,000 2,269 5,000 5,000 - 0.0%

TOTAL OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 556,582        662,796          893,000          504,389        874,000         998,000         105,000     11.8%

CHARGEBACKS-M-NCPPC: 

CHARGEBACKS-IT 141,690        143,815          146,000          97,316          146,000         150,000         4,000          2.7%

CHARGEBACKS-LEGAL 64,200          64,200 66,000 44,255          66,000 68,000 2,000          3.0%

TOTAL CHARGEBACKS 205,890        208,015          212,000          141,571        212,000         218,000         6,000          2.8%

Total 2,351,060     2,733,078      3,475,000      2,074,959     3,076,800      3,635,000      160,000     

CAPITAL OUTLAY: 18,564          - - - - 30,000 30,000        

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 18,564          - - - - 30,000 30,000        

TOTAL 2,369,624     2,733,078      3,475,000      2,074,959     3,076,800      3,665,000      190,000     5.5%

TThe Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission

EEmployees' Retirement System

FFY 2026 Operating Budget

FY 2025 Variance

4/7/2025

75



AActual AActual AActual EEstimated EEstimated

FFY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 % Increase

Bank Custodial Services 277,208$      272,703$      278,755$          292,000$          300,000$  2.74%

Investment Consulting 
SServices 214,076$      229,147$      243,927$          250,000$          257,500$  (2) 3.00%

Investment Management 
SServices 2,996,015$   3,553,208$   2,407,007$       3,600,000$       3,750,000$         (1) 4.17%

Total 3,487,299$   4,055,058$   2,929,689$       4,142,000$       4,307,500$         4.00%

The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission

Employees' Retirement System

FY 2026 Investment Services

(1) Investment manager fees fluctuate based on the market value of the portfolio.  The market value per Meketa's' report as of December 31, 2024 was

$1,179,657,526. Estimated fees of 36.0 basis points are based on a 6.70% return assumption for 2024 and a 6.70% return for 2024 with no further assumption

rate change for 2025.

(2) Investment Consulting services include fees for the primary investment consultant, Wilshire Associates' - Agreed upon new 2023 Fees.  The retainer fee shall

increase by the prior calendar year's percentage increase of the the index known as the "United States Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index For All

Urban Consumers All Items United States City Average."  Beginning in fiscal year 2025 the fees are based on the agreement with Meketa Investment Group,

dated July 1, 2024.

76



M-NCPPC NO.  25-09

RESOLUTION 

APPROVAL OF THE FY2026 OPERATING BUDGET FOR THE  
EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,665,000 

WHEREAS, the Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission (the 
"Commission") as Plan Sponsor entered into a Pension Trust Agreement as of July 26, 1972 and 
amended on June 13, 1979 ("the Agreement") with the Employees' Retirement System of the 
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission ("ERS" or the "Plan") and a 
Memorandum of Understanding dated February 11, 1982, between those same entities 
(“Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Section 2 of the Agreement states that the Board of Trustees “will annually 
prepare and present to the Commission for its review and approval, an operating budget setting forth projected 
expenditures for the operation of the ERS…”; and 

WHEREAS, at its May 6, 2025 meeting, the Board of Trustees approved the proposed 
Operating Budget for FY2026; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the aforementioned recommendation, the Board of Trustees 
submits an FY2026 Operating Budget in the amount of $3,665,000 which is a 5.5% increase from 
FY2025; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission as Plan Sponsor approves the 
FY2026 ERS Operating Budget of $3,665,000. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning 
Commission does hereby authorize the Executive Director and other officers to take action as may 
be necessary to implement this resolution. 

******************************************************************************* 

77



 

M-NCPPC No. 25-09
May 21, 2025

CERTIFICATION 

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 25-09 adopted by the 
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission on motion of __________, seconded by 
Commissioner __________, with Commissioners _________,___________,___________,___________, 
in favor of the motion, and Commissioners _______________ being absent for the vote at its regular 
meeting held virtually on Wednesday, May 21, 2025, and broadcast by the __________Department.  

_________________________________________ 
William Spencer, Acting Executive Director 

Reviewed and Approved for Legal Sufficiency 

______________________________________ 
Debra Borden, General Counsel
May 8, 2025 

78



Item 5c

79



This page intentionally left blank.  

80



Reply to:  
Debra S. Borden, General Counsel 
Office of the General Counsel 
6611 Kenilworth Avenue, Suite 200-201 
Riverdale, Maryland 20737 
Phone: 301-454-1670 • Fax: 301-454-1674 

April 30, 2025 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: The Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission 

FROM: Debra S. Borden 
General Counsel 

RE: Litigation Report for April 2025 – FY 2025 

Please find the attached litigation report we have prepared for your meeting scheduled for 
Wednesday, May 21, 2025. As always, please do not hesitate to call me in advance if you would 
like me to provide a substantive briefing on any of the cases reported.  

Table of Contents – April 2025, Fiscal Year 2025 Report 

Composition of Pending Litigation ....................................................................... Page 01 
Overview of Pending Litigation (Chart) ................................................................... Page 02 
Litigation Activity Summary ................................................................................... Page 03 
Index of YTD New Cases  ........................................................................................ Page 04 
Index of YTD Resolved Cases  ................................................................................. Page 05 
Disposition of FY25 Closed Cases Sorted by Department  ...................................... Page 06 
Index of Reported Cases Sorted by Jurisdiction ......................................................  Page 09 
Litigation Report Ordered by Court Jurisdiction ...................................................... Page 10 

Item 6a

81



This page intentionally left blank.  

82



Page 1 of 13 

April 2025 
 Composition of Pending Litigation 

 (Sorted by Subject Matter and Forum) 

STATE 
TRIAL 

COURT 

APPELLATE 
COURT OF 
MARYLAND 

SUPREME 
COURT OF 
MARYLAND 

FEDERAL 
TRIAL 

COURT 

FEDERAL 
APPEALS 

COURT 

U.S. 
SUPREME 

COURT 

SUBJECT 
MATTER 
TOTALS 

ADMIN APPEAL: 
LAND USE 1 1 1 3 

ADMIN APPEAL: 
OTHER 0 

BANKRUPTCY 0 

CIVIL 
ENFORCEMENT 0 

CONTRACT 
DISPUTE 0 

DEBT 
COLLECTION 1 1 

EMPLOYMENT 
DISPUTE 0 

LAND USE 
DISPUTE 0 

MISCELLANEOUS 1 1 

PROPERTY 
DISPUTE 0 

TORT CLAIM 1 1 

WORKERS’ 
COMPENSATION 0 

PER FORUM 
TOTALS 3 1 1 1 6 

83



 

 
  
  
 Page 2 of 13 
 

 
 

ADMIN. APPEAL 
LAND USE

50%

MISCELLANEOUS
16%

TORT
17%

DEBT COLLECTION
17%

OVERVIEW OF PENDING LITIGATION

84



 

 
  
  
 Page 3 of 13 
 

April 2025 Litigation Activity Summary 
 

  

COUNT FOR MONTH COUNT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2025 

 
 
 
 

Pending 
March 
2025 

 
 
 

New 
Cases 

 
 
 

Resolved 
Cases 

   
 
 
 

Resolved 
Cases 
FY To 
Date 

 

   

Pending  
Fiscal 

Year 24 

New 
Cases 
FY To 
Date 

Pending 
Current 
Month 

Admin 
Appeal: Land 
Use (AALU) 

4  1 4 3 4 3 

Admin 
Appeal: Other 

(AAO) 
0   2  2 0 

Bankruptcy 
(B) 0   0   0 

Civil 
Enforcement 

(CE) 
0   0   0 

Contract 
Disputes (CD) 0   1  1 0 

Debt 
Collection (D) 2  1 0 2 1 1 

Employment 
Disputes (ED) 0   4  4 0 

Land Use 
Disputes (LD) 0   0   0 

Miscellaneous 
(M) 1   0 1  1 

Property 
Disputes (PD) 0   0   0 

Tort Claims 
(T) 1 1 1 3 2 4 0 

Workers’ 
Compensation 

(WC) 
0   5  5 0 

TOTALS 8 1 3 19 8 21 6 

85



 

 
  
  
 Page 4 of 13 
 

INDEX OF YTD NEW CASES 
(7/1/2024 TO 6/30/25) 

 
A.  New Trial Court Cases.    Unit  Subject Matter  Month  
 Asare v. Commission     PG  Tort   Aug.  
  In the Matter of Cameron Hills Owner’s  MC  AALU   Aug. 
  Association Inc., et al.  
 Commission v. Denis    MC  D   Sept. 
 Hallman v. Cowell, et al.     PG  CD   Sept.  

Greater Capitol Heights Improvement   PG  AALU   Sept. 
Corporation, Inc. v. Commission  

      Commission v. Brewer    PG  D   Oct. 
      In the Matter of Glenn Dale Citizens’   PG  AALU   Nov. 
 Association, Inc., et al.  

In re: Insulin Pricing Litigation   MC/PG  Misc.    Jan.  
Young-Rosier v. Nugent, et al.    PG  Tort   Feb. 
Ferguson v. Gantt, et al.    PG  Tort   April 

 
                       
 
 
 
B.  New Appellate Court Cases.   Unit  Subject Matter  Month 

Paige Industrial Services, Inc. v. Commission MC  AAO   July 
Bhargava v. Prince George’s County Planning Bd. PG  AALU   Feb. 
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Assoc., et al.  MC  AALU   Feb. 

     
 

 
 

  

86



 

 
  
  
 Page 5 of 13 
 

INDEX OF YTD RESOLVED CASES 
(7/1/2024 TO 6/30/2025) 

  
A.  Trial Court Cases Resolved    Unit                 Subject Matter   Month 

Commission v. Chen    MC  CD   July 
Mays v. Commission    PG  ED   July 
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens   MC  AALU   July 
 Association, et al. (C-15-CV-23-002405) 
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens   MC  AALU   July 
 Association, et al. (C-15-CV-24-000505)  MC  AALU   July 
Chisley v. Commission    PG  Tort   July 
Evans v. Braveboy, et al.     PG  Tort   Aug. 
Weisman v. Commission, et al.    MC  ED   Aug.  
Hallman v. Cowell, et al.     PG  CD   Oct.  
Wallace v. Commission, et al.   PG  ED   Oct.  
Asare v. Commission    PG  Tort   Nov. 
Celey v. Commission    PG  ED   Dec. 
Vester v. Bowie Baysox Baseball Club, et al.  PG  Tort   Dec. 
In the Matter of Cameron Hill Owner’s Assoc., MC  AALU   Jan. 
 Inc., et al. 
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens    MC  AALU   Jan. 
 Association, et al. 
Commission v. Dennis    MC  D   Mar. 
Greater Capitol Heights Improvement Corporation PG  AALU   Mar. 
 v. Commission 
Young-Rosier v. Nugent, et al.    PG  Tort   Mar.  
   

 
 
 
 
 

 
B.  Appellate Court Cases Resolved       Unit  Subject Matter   Month 

Paige Industrial Services, Inc. v. Commission MC  AAO   Sept.  
Bhargava v. Prince George’s County Planning Bd. PG  AALU    Jan.  
Bhargava v. Prince George’s County Planning Bd.  PG  AALU   Feb. 
       

 
      
 
      
 
 

87



 

 
     Page 6 of 13 
 

 Disposition of FY25 Closed Cases 
Sorted by Department 

 

CLIENT PRINCIPAL CAUSE OF ACTION IN DISPUTE DISPOSITION 
Employees Retirement System   
   
Finance Department   
   
Department of Human Resources & Management   
   
Montgomery County Department of Parks    
Commission v. Chen Breach of Contract matter to recover funds for 

rental of recreational fields. 
07/18/2024 – Voluntarily 
dismissed by Commission after 
Defendant paid outstanding 
funds.  

Paige Industrial Services, Inc. V. Commission Judicial Review of the decision of the administrative 
agency (CCRC). Contractor’s claim for additional 
payments for construction at Rock Creek 
Maintenance Yard. 

07/12/2024 – Decision of the 
CCRC affirmed by Circuit 
Court. 09/04/2024 - Appellate 
Court of Maryland granted 
Commission’s Motion to 
Dismiss appeal of Circuit 
Court’s decision.  

Commission v. Dennis Action to recover losses for damage(s) to 
Commission property.  

03/21/2025 – Affidavit 
Judgment Granted. 

Montgomery County Park Police  
 
 

  
Weisman v. Commission, et al.  Plaintiff, a former police sergeant, filed a complaint 

against the Commission and the Montgomery 
County Chief of Police, alleging a hostile work 
environment due to discrimination based on sex, 
sexual orientation, and religion.  

08/12/2024 – Motion to 
Dismiss granted.  

88



 

 
     Page 7 of 13 
 

Montgomery County Planning Board   
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Assoc. et al. 
(C-15-CV-23-002405) 

Petitioners sought Judicial Review of the 
Montgomery County Planning Department’s 
decision regarding 9801 Georgia Avenue Sketch 
Plan 320230020. 

07/29/2024 – Judgment of the 
Planning Board affirmed.  

In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Assoc. et al. 
(C-15-CV-24-000505) 

Petitioners sought Judicial Review of the 
Montgomery County Planning Department’s 
decision regarding 9801 Georgia Avenue Sketch 
Plan 320230020.  

07/29/2024 – Judgment of the 
Planning Board affirmed. 

In the Matter of Cameron Hill Owners Association, Inc. 
et al.  
(C-15-CV-24-004664) 
 

Petitioners seek Judicial Review/Mandamus of the 
Montgomery County Planning Board’s Decision 
regarding 8676 Georgia Avenue Sketch Plan 
320230060 and Preliminary Plan 120230150. 

01/22/2025 – Stipulation of 
Dismissal.  

In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Association, et 
al. 
(C-15-CV-24-001622) 

Petitioners seek Judicial Review of the Montgomery 
County Planning Board’s Decision in 9801 Georgia 
Avenue Plan no(s). 120230160, 820230130 and 
F20240040. 

01/27/2025 - Order of Court 
Affirming Montgomery County 
Planning Board’s Decision 

Prince George’s County Department of Parks and 
Recreation 

  

Mays v. Commission Employee terminated from the Commission for her 
COVID vaccination status brought suit alleging 
several employment-related claims, such as 
religious and genetic discrimination, retaliation, and 
wrongful discharge.  

07/27/2024 – Case settled and 
dismissed.  

Chisley v. Commission, et al.  Plaintiff alleged he tripped and fell in a concealed 
hole at Enterprise Golf Course. 

08/04/2024 – Case dismissed 
for lack of prosecution. 

Evans v. Braveboy, et al.  Plaintiff alleged she tripped and fell at Fairwood 
Community Park due to uneven sidewalk pavement 
resulting in injuries. 

08/07/2024 – Motion to 
Dismiss granted.  

Hallman v. Cowell, et al.  Action for payment of services rendered at Suitland 
Community Center 

10/03/2024 – Stipulation of 
dismissal.  

Wallace v. Commission, et al.  Former employee alleges discrimination and 
wrongful termination relating to her COVID 
vaccination status. 

10/16/2024 – Stipulation of 
dismissal.  

89



Page 8 of 13 

Asare v. Commission Tort suit alleging injuries at Southern Recreation 
Center as a result of a physical altercation while 
participating in Xtreme Teen’s program. 

11/13/2024 – Motion to 
Dismiss granted. 

Celey v. Commission Defendant alleged employment discrimination 
based upon race, sex, and disability, as well as 
retaliation. 

12/19/2024 - Joint Notice of 
Dismissal 

Louise Vester v. Bowie Baysox Baseball Club, et al. Tort suit for injuries allegedly sustained while 
attending a Bowie Baysox game at Prince George’s 
Stadium. 

12/17/2024 – Case dismissed. 

Theresa Young-Rosier v. Jeremy Nugent, et al. Tort suit for injuries allegedly sustained in a motor 
vehicle accident. 

03/06/2025 – Line of Dismissal 
as to the Commission. 

Prince George’s County Planning Board 
Bhargava v. Prince George’s County Planning Board Appeal to Appellate Court from the Circuit decision 

that affirmed the decision of the Prince George’s 
County Planning Board’s to affirm the Planning 
Director’s approval of a tree conservation plan, a 
revision of that tree conservation plan, and 
variances to the Woodland Conservation Ordinance 
that allowed removal of specimen trees.  

12/31/2024 – Appellate Court 
Affirmed Circuit Court decision. 

Greater Capitol Heights Improvement Corporation, 
Inc. v. Commission 

Petitioners sought Judicial Review of the Prince 
George’s County Planning Board’s Decision 
approving Preliminary Plan of Subdivision No.  
4-22014.

03/14/2025 – Planning Board 
decision affirmed. 

Prince George’s Park Police 

Office of Internal Audit 

90



 

 
         Page 9 of 13 

INDEX OF REPORTED CASES 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND ........................................................... 10 
DISTRICT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND .................................................... 10 
Commission v. Brewer ................................................................................................................................ 10 
CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND ............................................................. 10 
CIRCUIT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND ...................................................... 11 
Ferguson v. Gantt, et. al. ............................................................................................................................. 11 
In the Matter of Glenn Dale Citizens Association, Inc., et al. ...................................................................... 11 
APPELLATE COURT OF MARYLAND ....................................................................................................... 12 
In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Association, et al. ........................................................................... 12 
SUPREME COURT OF MARYLAND ......................................................................................................... 12 
Bhargava, et al. v. Prince George’s Cnty. Public Schools Proposed S. K-8 Middle School, et al. ............. 12 
U.S. DISTRICT COURT OF MARYLAND ................................................................................................... 13 
U.S. DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY ............................................................................. 13 
In Re: Insulin Pricing Litigation .................................................................................................................... 13 
 

  

91



Page 10 of 13 

DISTRICT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND 

No Pending Matters 

DISTRICT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND 

Commission v. Brewer  
Case No. D-05-CV-24-044346 (D) 

Lead Counsel: Johnson 

Abstract: Action to recover losses for damage(s) to Commission property. 

Status: Affidavit Judgment Granted.  
Docket: 

10/22/2024 Complaint filed 
11/08/2024 Affidavit of Service filed 
01/14/2025 Amended Complaint filed 
01/27/2025 Case sent to Judge’s chambers for ruling based upon Affidavit 

filing.  
04/11/2025 Affidavit Judgment Granted. 

CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND 

No Pending Matters 

92



 

 
         Page 11 of 13 

CIRCUIT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND 
 

 
Ferguson v. Gantt, et. al.  

Case No. C-16-CV-25-002097 (Tort) 
 
Lead Counsel:  Thornton 
Other Counsel:   
 
Abstract:  Suit for injuries sustained in a rear-end motor vehicle accident that involved two 

other vehicles in addition to the Commission vehicle operated by employee 
Gantt. 
 

Status:   Complaint filed. Commission has yet to be served.  
 
Docket: 

04/19/2025 Complaint filed 
 
 
 

In the Matter of Glenn Dale Citizens Association, Inc., et al.  
Case No. C-16-CV-24-005361 (AALU) 

 
Lead Counsel:  Warner 
Other Counsel:   
 
Abstract:  Petitioners seek Judicial Review of the Prince George’s County Planning Board’s 

Decision with regard to Preliminary Plan of Subdivision No. 4-22051. 
 
Status:   Hearing set.  
 
Docket: 

11/07/2024 Petition for Judicial Review 
11/27/2024 Response to Petition for Judicial Review filed 
12/12/2024 Scheduling Order 
12/19/2024 Glen Dale Holding Company LLC and WFC Flagship LLC 

Response to Petition for Judicial Review 
01/31/2025 Joint Motion to Continue Oral Argument and Stipulation to 

Reset Briefing Schedule 
02/04/2025 Order of Court granting Joint Motion 
02/19/2025 Notice of Oral Argument 
03/07/2025 Petitioner’s Memorandum filed 
06/06/2025 Hearing set 

 
 

 
  

93



 

 
         Page 12 of 13 

APPELLATE COURT OF MARYLAND 
 
 

In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Association, et al.  
Case No. ACM-REG-2475-2024 (AALU) 

(Originally filed under case C-15-CV-24-001622 in Montgomery County) 
 

Lead Counsel:  Mills 
Other Counsel: 
 
Abstract: Appeal of Decision by Circuit Court affirming the Montgomery County Planning 

Board’s Decision in 9801 Georgia Avenue Plan no(s). 120230160, 820230130 
and F20240040 

 
Status:   Appeal filed. 
 
Docket: 

02/26/2025 Appeal filed. 
03/25/2025 Order to Proceed. 

 
 

SUPREME COURT OF MARYLAND 
 

Bhargava, et al. v. Prince George’s Cnty. Public Schools Proposed S. K-8 Middle School, et al. 
Case No. SCM-PET-0482-2024 (AALU) 

(Originally filed under CAL21-13945 in Prince George’s County, ACM REG – 0659-2023) 
 

Lead Counsel:  Warner 
Other Counsel:   
 
Abstract:  Petition for Writ regarding Appellate Court’s affirmation of the decision affirming 

Prince George’s County Planning Board’s decision to affirm the Planning 
Director’s approval of a tree conservation plan, a revision of that tree 
conservation plan, and variances to the Woodland Conservation Ordinance that 
allowed removal of specimen trees.  

 
Status:   Case closed. Certiorari Denied.  
 
Docket: 

02/21/2025 Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed 
02/28/2025 Commission Answer to Writ of Certiorari filed 
03/03/2025 Prince George’s County Public Schools Answer to Writ of 

Certiorari filed 
04/25/2025 Notice of Order. Certiorari denied  

 
 

  

94



 

 
         Page 13 of 13 

U.S. DISTRICT COURT OF MARYLAND 
 
 

No Pending Matters 
 
 

U.S. DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 
In Re: Insulin Pricing Litigation  
Case No. 2:25-cv-00389  (Misc.) 

 
Lead Counsel:  Ko  
Other Counsel:  Rupert, Bansal  
 
 
Abstract:  Affirmative litigation brought by the Commission against Pharmacy Benefits 

Managers and drug manufacturers alleging an illegal pricing and kickback 
scheme involving insulin and related drugs, harming the Commission in its 
capacity as a third-party payor of pharmacy benefits.  

   
 
Status:    Complaint filed. Waiver of service of summons and complaint executed.  
 
Docket: 

01/13/2025 Complaint filed 
01/31/2025 Waiver of Service of summons and complaint executed by 

Commission 
02/05/2025 Waiver of Service of summons and complaint executed by 

Commission 
03/24/2025 Waiver of Service of summons and complaint executed by 

Commission 
04/18/2025 Waiver of Service of summons and complaint executed by 

Commission 
 

95



This page intentionally left blank.  

96


	COMM Cover Sheet.pdf
	blank spacer page
	1b1. Resolution 25-08 BDPMMPA Adoption Staff Report- Full Commission
	SUMMARY
	ATTACHMENTS

	blank spacer page
	1b2. Attachment A- MCPB Resolution No. 25-034 M-NCPPC Resolution No. 25-08
	1b3. Attachment B- Montgomery County Council Resolution No. 20-770
	COUNTY COUNCIL FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND
	Action

	blank spacer page
	1b4. Attachment C- BDPMMA Planning Board Draft
	Bethesda MMPA Cover (Planning Board Draft)
	Bethesda Downtown Plan Minor Master Plan Amendment Planning Board Draft 20241219 FINAL

	blank spacer page
	1b5. Attachment D- Certification of Approval and Adoption
	blank spacer page
	1c1. Resolution 25-10 Full Commission Memo 25-05-07_ Paint Branch Stream Restoration
	MEMORANDUM

	blank spacer page
	1c2. PGCPB No._2025-032_ Paint Branch Stream Restoration_signed
	1c3. 25-04-17 Paint Branch Stream Easements
	Prince George’s County Planning Board: ��April 17, 2025�
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8

	2a. 4-16-25 Comm Mtg FINAL
	2b. 2025-4-16 Commission Closing Statement - PAS
	4. April 1, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes - FINAL
	blank spacer page
	5b1. Memo to Commission for Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget - Signed
	RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND
	FY26 GOALS AND PRIORITIES
	ITEM 4.B. Admin Personnel Committee Regular Report; April 15, 2025.pdf
	FY26 Proposed Operating Budget Presentation and Attachments.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6



	5b2. Resolution 25-09_ERS FY2026 Operating Budget
	5c. GLP-1 Update to Commission 04 16 2025 Final Memo
	blank spacer page
	6a1. April 2025 Cover Memo
	MEMORANDUM
	Table of Contents – April 2025, Fiscal Year 2025 Report


	blank spacer page
	6a2. April Final
	SUBJECT MATTER TOTALS
	U.S. SUPREME
	FEDERAL
	FEDERAL
	SUPREME COURT OF MARYLAND
	APPELLATE COURT OF MARYLAND
	STATE TRIAL COURT
	APPEALS
	TRIAL
	COURT
	COURT
	COURT
	ADMIN APPEAL: LAND USE
	1
	1
	1
	ADMIN APPEAL: OTHER
	BANKRUPTCY
	CIVIL ENFORCEMENT
	0
	CONTRACT DISPUTE
	DEBT COLLECTION
	1
	1
	EMPLOYMENT DISPUTE
	0
	LAND USE DISPUTE
	0
	MISCELLANEOUS
	1
	1
	PROPERTY DISPUTE
	0
	TORT CLAIM
	1
	1
	WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
	0
	PER FORUM TOTALS
	6
	In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Assoc. et al.
	In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Assoc. et al.
	In the Matter of Cameron Hill Owners Association, Inc. et al. 
	(C-15-CV-24-004664)
	In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Association, et al.
	Louise Vester v. Bowie Baysox Baseball Club, et al. 
	Theresa Young-Rosier v. Jeremy Nugent, et al. 

	1
	1
	1
	3
	Index of Reported CASES
	DISTRICT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND
	DISTRICT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND
	Commission v. Brewer

	CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND
	CIRCUIT COURT FOR PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MARYLAND
	Ferguson v. Gantt, et. al.
	In the Matter of Glenn Dale Citizens Association, Inc., et al.

	APPELLATE COURT OF MARYLAND
	In the Matter of Forest Grove Citizens Association, et al.

	SUPREME COURT OF MARYLAND
	Bhargava, et al. v. Prince George’s Cnty. Public Schools Proposed S. K-8 Middle School, et al.

	U.S. DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
	In Re: Insulin Pricing Litigation


	blank spacer page



